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the rock, which only needs the requisite machinery to crush out, at anything
from 10 dwts. to 1 oz per ton, no conclusive evidence has yet been offered to
support these statements by specimens which can be submitted toganalysis. In
1880, however, long before Europeans turned theic eyes in this direction, the old
Jumbe of Kotakota told me that the quartz in his country contained gold, and

THE SHIRE HIGHLANDS

soon afterwards he entered into an agreement with the African Lakes Company
that this gold should be worked. The Lakes Company turned over their

agreement to the British South Africa Company, on whose account prospectors

have entered the Marimba district.

Specimens of something very like cinnabar were onge submittetl to Mr.
Sharpe and myself for examination. They came from the countyy to the west
of the Lower Shire. . We attempted an analysis but although there seemed to
be traces of mercury in the pan we could not authoritatively state that the
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sm mcmnabar Smce that time no further specimens havc reached us.

;It,.ls beyond dispute that the country of Katanga is rich in copper and also

golds The copper of Katanga, however, is widely spread in a currency

of mgots over South® Central Africa. Malachite also comes from that region.

“There is no reason why this copper should not also be found in the same
formatxon to the east of the river Luapula and Lake Mweru.

imens of lead and of graphite have been shown to me, but I was

unable to identify the districts from which they were obtained, though I

understood that some specimens of graphite came from the hills to the west
of the Lower Shire. L

Iron ore is nearly everywhere abundant. Excellent hiematite iron comes
from the Upper Shire district. 'We have actually used some of this iron—have
had it smelted and worked by native blacksmiths—for making the parts of a
gun and such other relatively simple things which were within the scope of
native blacksmiths or Sikh artizans. .

Garnets are found in the stream valleys of Mlanje. On the same mountain
beautiful quartz crystals are met with and persons seeing them  for the first
time are often deluded into the belief that they have obtained diamonds. No
trace of the blue diamond clay has ever yet been met with in Central Africa!

There are no deposits of rock-salt, so far as I am aware, but salt is obtained
from the brackish marsh called by the name of Mweru which lies between the
great lake Mweru and Tanganyika ; also from the marsh country in the West
Shire district, and from the brackish Lake Chilwa.*

But salt is also obtained both good and abundant—though rather dark in
colour—from the ashes of grasses and other plants growing on the mountain
plateaux agd in-the vicinity of rivers and lakes. On the whole, in one way or
anather British Central Africa may be considered to be well supplied with salt "
manufactured by the natives, which is a favourite article of commerce and is
even a good deal used by Europeans, who in their cooking, if not on their tables,
at any rate x'n their kitchens, use it in preference to the imported article.

{Central ) the formation is the same as that of the Vaal River Valley: and as garnets and

urynah mmd in it if it were mperly worked it see cgmhsble it might prove diamondiferous.”
describes llows the way in which the natives extract salt from the Mweru

swimp ¢ --“ The natives dwelhng round the great Mwern salt swamp take lhe salt- 1mpregm.ted earth

;- ’an:mdu Cullen supplies the following note :—““In the upper waters of the Lintipe river

round tﬁ lake shore amd put it into funnels made of closely woven ﬁe ey then pour in
water and stir up the salt earth. The water takes up the salt and rough the grass funnel,
ﬁ:ll;ﬂm l}'}t in lolunun mta pou placed below. water is then enpomed and cakes of pure
| fm ' " 9
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CHAPTER' III.
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history quite recently, Tanganyika and much of Nyasa scarcely forty
years ago. It is just barely possible that the south end o Lake
Nyasa, and it is certain that a portion of the river Shire which flows from
it, were known to the Portuguese explorers at the latter end of the sixteenth
century. The unwritten history, the history which can be deduced from
researches into language, examinations of racial type, native traditions, and
archaeological researches, extends back into the usual remoteness connected
with the movements of the human genus, though in no part of the world
is it so indefinite or is there such scanty and slight material on which to
construct theories. -
It may be that somcthmg of this kind occurred. Until further fa.cts--
come to light, the tendency of such little knowledge as we at wnt possﬁg.
‘of the past history of the evolution of man is to lead us to believe that
was developed from the pithecoid type somewhere in Asia, not improbably i in.
India.! It would seem, at any rate, as if the earliest known race of man,
inhabiting what is now British Central Africa, was akin to the Bushman-l
Hottentot type of negro. Rounded stones, with a hole through the centre, similar
to those which are used by the Bushmen in the south for weighting :
digging sticks, have been found at the south end of Lake Tangan?{ka.ﬁ. _
‘specimens of them were brought home thence by me and given to.the
Museum. 1 Qave heard that other examples of these “ Bushman ” stones ha-W
been found nearer to Lake Nyasa, but 1 have not seen the alleged"qpeca ns.
In one mqtance I alighted on a curious tradition, which would make it

BRIT!SH CENTRAL AFRICA only comes within the domain cf wntten

L AL any this theory, which at present haldnl.beﬂeld,ma bmgm'
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 deduces from these discoveries that the amﬂ,uocis. of 1
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that until recently the Bushman type was lingering on the upper plateau of the
Mlanje mountain mass at the south-east corner of the Protectorate. The
Mafanja nati¥es of that district assert positively that there used to live on the
upper part of the mountain, a dwarf race of light yellow complexion with haig
growing in scattered tufts, and with that large development of the buttocks:
characteristic of the Bushman-Hottentot type. They gave these people a
specific name, “ Arungu,” but 1 cénfess that this term inspired me with some
distrust of the value of their tradition, as
it was identical with the word for “gods."!
The resemblance, however, may have been
accidental. They declare this people to
have been found on the top of Mlanje
until quite recently. Similar rumours were
collected by a Portuguese officer statinned
at Mlanje, and by him communicated to
me, quite independently of my own re-
searches, and the same idea occurred to
him as to myself, that the traditions
referred to a Bushman type. 1 have at
different times exhaustively searched, or
caused to be searched, the upper parts of
the Mlanje mountain ; but although traces
of human residence in some of the caves
have been reported, no definite proof of
the ‘existence of any people differing from
the moderh type was discovered. That is
to say, traces of human habitation in those
caves and hollows consisted chiefly of
fragments of pottery, which is certainly
not a characteristic sign of Bushman
habitation. It is probably known to my
readers, however, that real undisputed PORTRAIT OF A YOUNG BUSHMAN
Bushmen are found (I have seen them
myself) in South Western Africa, in the same latitudes as the southern
part of the British Protectorate under review. Bushman tribes were discovered
by Serpa Pinto and other explorers as far north almost as thej 14th parallel
wuthﬂﬁt:tude in the countries near the Upper Kunene river.

ere and there, in Nyasaland, one meets with faces and forms amongst the
natives which suggest a cropping out of the Hottentot type, as though the
present Bantu races had, on-their first invasion of these countries, absorbed
their  Bushman predece-ssors by intermarriage.  This Bushman- Hottentot
mixture, however, is not nearly so apparent as it is in the Basuto and
certain Kafir tribes of South Africa. Indeed when South African negroes
come t%tNyasdland for work ‘and one is able to contrast them with the
local ives, one is struck at once by the resemblance they offer to
H ots, in their paler skms. more prominent cheek bones, deep set eyes

Ily hage much mingled with the Hottentots in times past. It would =
Seem fmm the rcsearchcs of ‘;k ‘Theodore Bent in the rumed cities pf

ed nose. It is evident that the Basuto-Bechuana people il
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".Mashonaland it those seacliel’ settlars. el Southm Arabm, ‘who mih&;;"i
for gold some two thousand years ago and less, in South Central Africz i

were only acquainted with native inhabitants of a Bushman-F .
. to judge by the drawings, engravings and models they have left, in_
depict natives engaged in the chase.
: The evidence which I have quoted at length in my book on Kilim: _n;am .-1
and in the prefatory chapters to the Life of Livingstone, derived from a com-
parative study of the Bantu languages, leads me to believe that the invasion
of the southern half of Africa by big black negro races, nowadays so familiar
to us, was relatively recent in the history of man—perhaps not much mote than .
2000 years ago. Some cause, such as the dense forests of the Congo Basin,
must have checked their descent of the continent from the Sudan. They
may also have been held back for a long time—especially on the eastern side
of the continent where the forests could never have been in recent times a
serious obstacle— by the sturdy opposition of the prior inhabitants of Bushman- ?
Hottentot type. Be that as it may, I do not think the black negroes, the
present inhabitants of South Central Africa, have been in possession of those
countries from time immemorial, and in their own traditions they vaguely recail
a descent from the North.

It is possible that when the Sabaans and Arabs traded with South—east
Africa, during the first half of the Christian era, one or another of them may
have penetrated into the countries round Lake Nyasa. With this proviso,
however, as to the possibility of such a journey having taken place, it must

_ be stated that as far as we know, the Arabs did little more in regard to British

Central Africa than to settle on the coast of the Indian Ocean, or to establish

a trading dep6t at Sena, on the Lower Zambezi. « s

It would seem to me as though 3000 years ago the distribution of races

» in Africa had stood thus. The southern half of the continent, from a little |
north of the Equator to the Cape of Good Hope, was very sparsely populated 1
with a low Negroid type, of which the Bushmen and Hottentots, and possibly

_ the pigmy tribes of the Congo forests? are the descendants. The North and
- North-east of Africa, from Morocco to Egypt and Egypt to .Smﬂﬂ_gtnd,*was :
peopled mainly by the Hamites, a race akin in origin and language to the
Semitic type, which latter was certa.mly a higher development from a parent
Hamitic stock The Hamites themselves, however, obviously ori . as a.
superior ascendmg variety of the Negritic species, from which basal stock
‘had been derived in still earlier times the Bushman-Hottentot groru '
languages—especially that of the Hottentot—are thought by some -
to show remote affinities in structure to the Hamitic tongues. Wﬁs
the Hamites, and an earlier divergence from the original Negritic group,
" the“trug black negroes, more closely allied in origin perhaps to the B

otfentots than o the more divergent Hamites. But 3000 y
Elinéd to believe that the true negroes were bounded in
he morthern limits of the Sahara Desert, the 'Atlantic ﬂcean
Jarestsyof the Congo Basin, and either the Nile Valley or
vi *F‘F* ds on the East. Hereandthmthcsediﬁ'
_stoek gming ucing races ‘to the | {
and the Fulbe, which well more or less on
and the Hamzte. When the true n




t;he Afncan contmcnt, some 3000 to 3000 years ago, they carried with thern
\wﬂﬁ “culture, domestic animals, and cultivated plants as they had derived
indirectly from Egwpt. I should think that in Nyasaland and along the shores
of La:ke Tanganyika, the history of negro culture has been retrograde, until

he coming of the Arab and the European. In one or two places on the shores

of Lake Nyasa old pottery has been dug up at a considerable depth below the
surface, with trees of great girtheand age growing over these remains. The
pottery has been found imbedded in the sand of an ancient shore-line of
Nyasa, now covered by about 5 feet of humus, in which baobab trees are

strongly rooted. From the approximate age of the trees, and the time it

should have taken to accumulate this vegetable soil, some of this pottery must
have been 500 or 600 years old. One large pot thus found has been deposited
by me in the British Museum. These few remains exhibit evidences of greater
skill and taste than is shown by the pottery at the present time in the same |
districts. = Researches founded on the study of languages, of religions, of
vraditions, and on the records of Portuguese explorers in West Africa, would
also seem to show that in Western Africa many of the negro States were in
a far higher state of culture 500 years ago than they are now,

The line of the migration of the Bantu negroes in British Central Africa
will be treated of in Chapter X1, which describes their languages. It will be
sufficient to say, as regards h:s.tory, that we may presume them to have entered

€

into possession of these countries—driving out or absorbing the antecedent =

Bushman race—about 1000 years ago.
With the doubtful exception of the visit of an occasional Arab slave
dealer,. they had no contact with the outer world until the arrival of the
uguese on the East Coast of Africa, which is the first definite landmark
u. history of this portion of the continent. Vasco da Gama, after rounding
the Cape of Good Hope in 1495, stopped at the Arab settlements of Sofala-
(near the modern Beira) and Mogambique, and thence passed onwards to
Malmda (near Mombasa) and India. On his return from India he further
explored the South-east Coast of Africa, and (probably from information
given by Arab _pilots) entered with his little fleet the Quelimane River,' which
was. conneuted intermittently with the main Zambezi, and which, until the other
day, was thought to be the only certain means of reachmg the Zambezi above
its delta. This river he called’ the “Rio dos Bons Signaes,” or the “River of
Good Indications.” The name “Quelimane,” which he applled to a small
village ‘12 miles inland from the mouth of the river (the origin of the now

to have the followihg etymology. This village belong
individual who acted as interpreter between the Portuguese a
- appears to have been an ‘Arab, or a half Arab. In

navigators seem to have been acquainted with*.
still ngered in the southern part of P

(till the twelfth mtu_ry_._ﬁ Th ~
individual was * Quelimane " (pro

t town of Quelimane, the capital of Portuguese Zambezia) is stated



:;r:m the term Interpmtcr, applied to this gulde and go-between ot' Vam n.{.,.
. For some five centuries before the Portuguese arrived the Arabs df |
Southern and Eastern Arabia had formed or re-formed settlements along the '
East Coast of Africa from Somaliland to Sofala! In the direction of {British
Central Africa they were chiefly established at Mogambique, Ngoji (Angoche),
and Sena on the Zambezi. They apparently,found no direct emtrance into the
Zambezi River which could be easily navigated by their daus, and prefmd"
to use the Quelimane River. This in exceptional rainy seasons at the k-
day becomes connected with the Zambezi river, by overflow creeks;; and
possibly some centuries ago was the most northern branch of the delta. The
Arabs would seem, therefore, to have gone up this river past Quelimane, and
then to have travelled either by water when the river was full, or overland
at other seasons, to Sena, a settlement not far from the junction of the Zambezi
and the Shire. From Sena again they had overland communication to! their
settlements at Sofala, near the modern town of Beira.?

At first the Portuguese were received by the Arabs in a friendly fashmn and
several of the Portuguese were taken up by Arab guides from. Quellmane 0" %
Sena. Before many years® were over the Portuguese had dispossessed the
Arabs, and driven them away. From Sofala to Mocambique they replaced
them so completely, with the exception of their settlements at Angoche,* that
they disappeared entirely and never returned, even after the temporary decay
of the Portuguese power which enabled the Arabs to reconquer the Ea.st Coast
of Africa as far south as Kilwa. '

At first Sena, on the Lower Zambezi, was the headquarters of thc Portu-
guese Administration, and from hence various expeditions, during the sixteenth
century, were sent southwards to discover the gold mines of Manika—expedi- Y
tions which werc mostly unsuccessful, owing to the unhealthiness of the climate
and the presence of the Tsetse fly. Another obstacle in the way of Portuguese
enterprise was the kingdom of Monomotapa,® a powerful empire of Bantu
negroes, probably related in stock to the Zulus. The influence of Monomota
must have ranged from the vicinity of the south end of Lake Nyasa to tga
Limpopo River. Simultaneously with the first Portuguese “ Conquistaderes *

e =
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! 1 say “‘re-formed ™ because we are now practically certain that some races of Southern Arabia had -
founded their ancient settlements—possibly in connection with the Phoenicians—in South-eastern Africa,
not only an the East Coast but far in the interior of Mashonaland. These settlements were, it is 8 »
destroyed by the advent of the Bantu tribes from the North, who were far more formidable 5
tackle than the feeble Bushmen and Hottentots, It is pmblc that the natives of Arabia did not
gw: their African trade, though they had to quit the interior and confine their settlements to the

ut whether or no there was a gap in Arab enterprise in the early part of the Christian era, there was a
revival in the tenth century, and in the eleventh century a strong Arab kingdom was formed

Clwa (midway between Zangibar and M. bique) which cxe:mwd & kind of over the
settlements or Sultanates. Mohques were i‘: ilt at this period, the remains of which ma be seen

present day.
© * Beirn was the name rrnreh to this place not many years ago by the
“first founded, afier Col. Paiva d'Andrada’s ex ions of the P ¢ river,

_mafthcpumdogd;mvmmofl’mngals the eldest son of the to the t
‘bears the title ncipe da Beira.,” Beira is pronounced ** Bay-ra” in Port _
with their ‘ususl perversity, the English people have decided to call it “By-ra,” for i
T mﬁ:ﬁm’lo devote all our best energy loammprmnmhunofhrd&
A the Arabs remained in of Sena until near the end

~ 4 Which really remain unconquered to this day.

*Mmmemdeﬁvedtmmtheuumappdhﬁono

.mptian of “M';'E:e Mutapa ” = *“Lord Hippopotamus”' ;
Hippopotamus.” mqlmmmuchmm
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and mining adventurers came lionchearted Jesuit Missionaries, resolved on
repeating in the Zambezi countries the successes they had obtained in
Christianising thes kingdom of the Congo. Several of these men were
martyred by the oiders of the Emperor of Monomotapa; but eventually
they established themselves at Zumbo, on the Central Zambezi, at the con-
fluence of the great Luangwa River.

The moderntcapital of Tetel which is the most important town on the
Zambezi, was not founded until the middle of the seventeenth century, and was
merely a station of Jesuit Missionaries originally, though afterwards taken over
by the Portuguese Government. At first, however, the princtpal towns were
Zumbo and Sena.

GOVERNOR'S HOUSE, TETE

Thcﬁonuguese soon, penetrated northward of the Zambezi, in the direction
of the Maravi country and the watershed of Lake Nyasa. Here they dis-
covered, or re-discovered, from hints given by Arabs or natives, the gold
deposits of Misale,® and for some century or so afterwards these gold mines
were extensively worked. Curiously enough, however, the chief mineral dis-
coveries of the Portuguese at this time lay in the direction of silver, though
at the present time we have no knowledge of any existing silver mines in the
Zambezi countrigs.
_In 1616 a Portuguese, named Jaspar Bocarro, offered to carry samples of
Zambezi silver overland from the Central Zambezi to Malindi, a Portuguese
cttlement to the north of Mombasa, without going near Mocambique. The

. :
8 ! Tete is the npme for a reed.  The plural ©* Matete” means “‘a reed-bed.” It is possible that this
“os the etymology of the name, as the share is very reedy about that part of the Zambezi. But the
!|l'.w'e_mnf ete is " x;qyu in i W . i
vy i Misale lies-within the British sphere of influence, and a British company is attempting
’ - by .‘i " [ A
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THE ISLAND OF MOCAMBIQUE, SEEN FROM THE MAINLAND

motive of this offer lay in the fact that considerable friction existed between
the Central Government of Mogambique, which was under the Viceroys of
India, and the Portuguese adventurers on the Zambezi, who strongly objected
to the grinding nmnnpnlu.s which the Mogambique Government sought to
establish. Jaspar Boearro apparently journeyed from where the town of Tete
now stands to the Upper Shire River, crossing that stream near its junction
with the Ruo; and then, passing through the Anguru countyy in the vicinity
of Lake Chilwa, he entered the Lujenda Valley, and so travelled on to the
Ruvuma River, and thence to the coast at Mikindani. ® From Mikindani he

continued his journey to Malindi by sea. So far as reliable records go, this was

the first European to enter what is now styled * British Central Africa®
The Jesuit priests from Zumbo had journeyed westward into the country
of the Batonga or Batoka,' and northwards up the Luangwa River. They

' Sir John Kirk, when ;mmmb with Livingstone, in 1859, discovered groves of fmix trees in ﬂlﬁ’ 2

Batoka country whhh may hive becu mtroduced by the Jesuits.
e .
p s -
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transmtttad rumours of a great lakq (Nyasa), whlch they styleci Lake * am :
is really meant “a lake in the country of the Maravi,” Maravi being an old
me (now nearly extinct) of the Nyarya tribes in the south-west of Nyasa-
land. But in the middle of the cighteenth century the Jesuits were expelled
from all the Portuguese Dominions by order of the Marquez de Pombal ; and

after their departure from the Central Zambezi there was a femporary diminu-

tion of Portuguese activity. At the very end of the last century, however, the
interest of the Portuguese Government in its Fast African possessions was
revived by the British Government having taken possession of the Cape of
Good Hope at the outbreak of the war with France. In the year following
the seizure of Cape Town' by an English force, Dr. Francisco José Maria de
Lacerda e Almeida, a distinguished scientific man who was a native of Brazil,
and a Doctor of Mathematics at Coimbra University (Portugal), addressed a very
remarkable letter to the Portugucse Government, setting forth that the results
of the English invasion of Capetown would be the creation of a great British |
South African Empire, which would, if not counteracted in time, spread north-
wards across the Zambezi, and separate the Portuguese Dominions of Angola
and Mocambique. This, T think, at the period and with the limited
geographical knowledge then posqessed by even a Portuguese University,
was one of the most remarkable instances of political foresight which can
be quoted. The Portuguese Government was so struck with- Dr. Lacerda's
arguments that it appointed him Governor of the Rics de Sena,® and
authorised him to conduct an expedition “4 contra-costa "—across Africa from
the Zambezi countries to Angola, establishing Portuguese Suzerainty along his
route.

It showld be stated at this juncture that not nearly so many white Portuguese
had assisted in opening up the East African territories, as had settled in Angola,
and on the West Coast of Africa. In those days the Portuguese East African
possessions were generally knit up with their Viceroyalty of India, and the
pure-blooded Portuguese in the Zambezi countries were few in number
compared to the “Canarins” or Canarese. These people were half-caste
natives of Goa, with more or less Indian blood in their veins, and constituted

ent men, though they relapsed into semi-savagery, and as slave-traders

and had'a record almost more evil than that of the Arabs, Nevertheless -

the European blood in their veins sharply distinguished these” Goanese from

'the uﬂkg black people, and of some of their journeys they kept more
intelligent records. Two Goanese of the name of Pcre:ra, father a.ud .

.....

.....

]

‘the pnnc:lpal element in the Portuguese Zambezi settlements. They were very
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b0 Angola to the Kazembe's country, near Lake Mwery, and thence to Tete 5
on the Zambezi. In 1831 Major Monteiro and Captain Gamitto conducted

“a mission from Tete to the Kazembe, and some years subsequently Silva Porto,

" rambled over much of South Central Africa; further, a certain Candidol de
~ Costa Cardoso claimed that he sighted the south-west corner of Lake N

a Portuguese colonist, of Bihe, in the interior of Benguela, is also said to have

in 1846; but none of these explorers, with the exception of Dr. Lacerda,

posscssf any scientific qualifications, and their journeys led to little or no
geographical information or political ascendancy. Indeed, what is remarkable
about Dr. Lacertla, to say nothing of the other explorers, was the extraorcinary

. bad luck which prevented him from sighting any important river or lake: He

| reached a point within a few miles of the large Lake Mweru, and yet either
never saw it, or thought it not worth mention. He heard vague rumours of
Tanganyika and of Nyasa, but did not direct his steps in either direction ;
and, stranger still, he missed the recognition of the remarkable Luapula; which

we now know to be the Upper Congo, though he must have actually been

within sight of it. !
The real history of British Central Africa begins with the advent of
Livingstone. This intrepid missionary had gradually pushed his explorations

_ morthwards from the Cape of Good Hope until he reached. the Central Zambezi

in 1851, accompanied by the celebrated sportsman Mr, Oswell. Impressed
with the importance of his discovery Livingstone returned to Cape Town,
and with the generous assistance of Mr. Oswell, was enabled not only to send
his wife and children out of harm’s way, but to equip himself for the tremendous
exploration of South Central Africa, which he had determined to accomplish.
Having perfected himself in astronomical observations, under the tuition of the
Astronomer-Royal of Cape Town, Livingstone started for the North and once
more reached the Zambezi, near its confluence with the Chobe. Thence he
ravelled up the Zambezi to its source, and across to Angola and again back
“irom Angola and down the Zambezi to its mouth, or more correctly speaking
to:Quelimane, on the Indian Ocean. This epoch-making journey%gjmportant
and far-reaching results. Livingstone was sent back by the Britigh Government

at the head of a well-equipped expedition, and was accompdnied amongst
* others by Dr, now Sir John, Kirk, who, besides being medical officer, was

the naturalist of the expedition.

After a journey to Tete and visits to the * Quebrabago ” Rapids for f-he .
purpose of determining the navigability of the Zambezi above Tete, Livingstone

determined to search for and find the reported great lake out of which ﬂie-Shifu‘\

flowed to join the Zambezi. At this date the Portuguese knew scarcely anything -
¢ of the Shire beyond its confluence with the Zambezi. They seem to have
lost all remembrance of the one or two earlier journeys in that direction of |

Portuguese explorers. Consequently, before Livingstone and his party had
ascended the Shire very far they found themselves in a country utely
new to the white man. After several futile attempts to reach Lake Nyasa,

* in the course of one of which they discovered the brackish Lake Chils
which lies to the south-cast of the greater lake, and Lake Malombe, whic

! The name of the **Shire” ri formerly wri the Portuguese **Cherim "
f:‘aihéﬂna)mt‘l:u “::: Jatex il %ﬁeﬁam,”byﬁr&l?i t‘i’;mﬂ_ be pi
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is a mdemng of the Upper Shl Livingstone and companions ﬁnaj:ly
reached the southern extremity o reh)&aﬁh, neéar the mt:!? of tlicpmodem %
ment of Fort Johyston, on the 16th of September, 1859, the first white men,
as far as we know with any certainty, who stood on the shores of Lake N '
As the district in Which Livingstone discovered this third greatest of the lakes 2
of Africa was under Yao domination, he recorded its name as pronounced
by the Yao, 7. Nyasa; but its most common appellation is Nyanja. This is
the same word as Nyanza farther north, and Nyasa, Nyanja, and Nyanza .
are derived from an archaic and widespread Bantu root -anza, which means
“a broad water.”?
Livingstone and his party extended their explorations of the western coast
of Lake Nyasa as far north as about 11°30 south latitude, a little more than i
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haif-w up thc lake. Subsequently Livingstone travelled inland west of Lakc
Nyasa till he reached the watershed of the great Luangwa River, and it
was apon hearing at that point of a not far distant lake that he resolved,
on his sucoeedir;g journey, to proceed along the same route, and thus discovered
ﬂl&'sﬁuﬁi end of Lake Tanganyika, I.ake Mweru, the Luapula River, and La
Whilst Livingstone and Kirk were exploring Lake Nyasa an
ds,\howe r, they were joined by a Christian Mission unc
~ which been sent out from the two great
ich exists to this day under the name of the “ Univers
ica.” | These missionaries settled in the eastern
_ust the invasions of thl: Muj;ammadan Yae
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Following on the Portuguese expeditions at the end of the 18th century
to Kazembe’s country, a great intercourse had sprung up between the Babisa
tribe, which inhabits the district to the west of the great I.uangwa River and
the Zanzibar coast. The Babisa had acquired guns from the Portuguese, and,
armed in this way, had asserted themselves cffectually against tribes still armed
with the bow and spear. They became an enterprising people and resolved
to trade directly with the Coast. Not liking the Portuguese, however, they
preferred to journey farther north, and trafficked with the Arabs of Zanzibar.
About this time the Zanzibar Sultanate was increasing gradually in power.
It was an appanage of the Imamate of Maskat ("Omin), and alrcady the
Maskat Arabs (who had replaced the Portuguese in all the trading settlements
of Eastern Africa, between the Ruvuma River and Somaliland) had begun to
push their slave and ivory trading enterprises into the interior of Ifastern
Africa, especially in the direction of Tanganyvika. Attracted, however. by the
accounts which the Babisa caravans gave of the fertile country in which they
dwelt, and struck with the docility of the slaves brought down by the Babisa
from the Nyasa countries, certain Arabs accompanied the Babisa caravans
back to their place of origin, which was, as [ have said. the countries lying to
the west of the great Luangwa River.  The route they foilowed was from ports
like Kilwa on the East Coast to Lake Nyasa thence across Nyasa and south
west or due west to the Lubisa country.

In the course of these journeys the Arabs became acquainted with that race
of fine physical development and stubborn character, the Yao, who inhabit
much of the high country lving between the Indian Ocean and Lake Nyasa.
In the Yao they found willing confederates in the slave trade, and a people
much inclined to Muhammadanism. Eventually the poor Babisa wete attacked
and enslaved by neighbouring tribes who had been armed by the Arabs, and
their importance passed awav. The Arabs and Yao between them began to
dominate Nyasaland. Now the inhabitants of the bulk of Ngasaland proper,
with the exception of its north-west portion, belonged in the m#n to what may
be called the A-nyanja stock. These people who are referred to by Portuguese
of an earlier date as the Amaravi, and who are of the same race as the indigenous
inhabitants of the Zambezi Valley between Tete and Sena and of the whole
course of the Shire, are of a singularly docile and peaceful disposition, devoted
to agriculture and timid in warfare—a race consequently that is always falling
under the domination of more powerful and energetic tribes.  Before what may
be called the Yao invasion of the Shire Iighlands the Nyanja people had been
oppressed by Zulu invaders coming from the south-west. The convulsions
which had been taking place in Zululand in the early part of this century had
‘resulted in a most curious recoil of the Zulu race on Central Africa. It is
probably not maay centuries since the forerunners of the Zulus swept down
from Central Africa, from the region of the great lakes, across the Zambezi,
into Southern Africa driving themselves like a wedge through the earlier Bantu
invaders, the ancestors of the Basuto-Bechuana, and further.displacing and
destroying the feebler Hottentot people.  Now, however, with the Indian Ocean
in front of them, and internal commotions and increase of population com-
pellting them to find more space for settlement, sections of them began to turrt-
their faces back towards the Zambezi The foundations of the Matabele!
kingdom were laid, and band after band of Zulus crossed the Zambezi about

Or Amandabele, as it t to be written but that we English lové inaccu in onuncillbl'l‘
and spelling for its own sake. Matabele is the Se-chuana corruption of the Zulu “mndﬂ.&k." '
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1825-6,and in their raids and conquests almost penetrated as far as the southern
shores of the Victoriz Nyanza, whilst they were constantly heard of on the east
coast of Tanganyika. In the west and south-west of Nyasaland they had
founded kingdoms and enslaved the local inhabitants, when the Yao from the
north-east hurled themsclves on the fertile Shire districts.  So that the unfor- -
tunate Nyanja people were caught between Zulu and Yao, and suffered greatly.
The British missionaries and explorers, however, saw little of the Zulu raiders
in those carlier days.! At the beginning of the “sixties” they were chiefly
concerned with the Yao invasion. After in vain attempting to defend their
Nyanja converts from the attacks of the Yao, the Universities Mission lost so
many of its members from sickness, and was additionally so discouraged
by the abandonment of Dr. Livingstone's schemes, that it withdrew from the
country for a time. Livingstone and his Expedition were recalled by the
British Government at the end of 1863, and quitted Zambezia in 1864.

The fact was that the British Government was at that time discouraged
from any further work in the Zambezi countries by the following obstacles :
the political opposition shown by the Portuguese;? the acknowledged sway
of the Portuguese over the coast line which made 1t impossible to communicate
with any DBritish Possessions which might be founded in the interior; the
unhealthiness of the coast lands; and the seeming absence of any easy way
into the Zambezi River, all the known mouths of which were cursed with
dangerous and shallow bars. The discovery of the Chinde mouth, which
afterwards revolutionised the whole question, had not then been made; or.
it may be, the Chinde branch of the Zambezi as an easily navigated river did
not then exist, for there have evidently been great fluctuations in the Zambezi
Delta with regard to the course taken by the principal body of its water.

Following on Livingstone’s first journey across South Central Africa, a great
mnterest had sprung up in France and (rermany regarding the existence of the
reported Central African lakes. The German Missionaries in the pay of the
Church Missionary Society in East Africa, had discovered the snow mountains
of Kenia and Kilimanjaro and had reported, from native inforination, the
existence of the Victoria Nyanza, of Tanganyika and of Lake Nyasa. Fore-
most amongst the African explorers of that day, and, at the time, second in
importance to Livingstone only, was a young lieutenant in the Indian Army—
Richard Francis Burton—who, stationed at Aden, had attempted the exploration
of Somaliland with a brother-officer named Speke. After sume difficulty
Burton had induced the Geographical Society and Her Majesty's Government
to provide. him with the funds for an expedition which would start from
opposite Zanzibar to discover the great Central African lake or lakes. He
chose Lieut. Speke as his companion, and together they discovered Lake
l'anganyika, Speke afterwards being dispatched by Rurton to look for the
great lake of Ukerewe, which Speke declared with truth to be the main source
of the Nile and which he named the Victoria Nyanza. Burton and Speke
were the first Eyropeans to arrive on the shores of Lake Tanganyika. They
w<plored its northern half, bur not very much work was done in the way of

5 Livingstone Jowever came in contact with them when he explored the western shores of Lake
Nyasa, q ' ’
., But i must be distinctly stated that throughout the whole course of Livingstones first and second
4 ﬁ_mbelu'exgdluoﬂ- though the Portuguese Government may have viewed with distaste the interest
“Vinced: by d in the Zambezi and the interior of East Central Africa, the courtesy and kindness
"':‘;:: by the Portuguese aughotities 1o, Livingstone and the rest of his expedition were praiseworthy

gt

+xiremes . For particulars of this see my Lefe of Livingstone.
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.
mapping beyond visiting the western shore and making a rough outline of the
northern portion of the lake. Prior to Burton’s journey, a young Frenchman
started from Zanzibar for the same purpose, but had been murdered on the way
to Tanganyika, and after Burton’s expedition a German doctor, named Ernst
Roscher, had set out for Lake Nyasa in the disguise of an Arab. He reached
the eastern shore of the lake at a place called Lusewa, on the 1g9th November,
1859, two months after Livingstone’s discoyery. On his attempted return to
the coast, however, he was murdered by the Yao, a murder which was to some
extent avenged by the Sultan of Zanzibar, who brought influence to bear
on the Yao chiefs to send the ostensible murderers to Zanzibar to be executed.
Another German traveller of some celebrity, Baron von der Decken, whe was
the first systematic explorer of Kilimanjaro, had attempted to reach Lake
Nyasa, but scarcely got half way.

Meantime Livingstone, after a year's sojourn in England, had managed to
scrape together funds for another Central Africa exploration. He was very
desirous of resuming his journeys in search of other lakes to the west of Lake
Nyasa. Travelling by Bombay and Zanzibar he landed at Mikindani at the
end of March, 1866. He was, 1 believe, the first explorer to attempt taking
with him natives of India as guards or soldiers ; but it must be confessed that
although the employment of Indians in Central Africa has since proved very
successful, the Muhammadan Sepoys who accompanied Livingstone turned out
utter failures, and were eventually sent back from Mataka's, 4 town in the Yao
country. Livingstone also tried to introduce the Indian buffalo, an experiment
not repeated until my reintroduction of this animal from India in 1895 It
is interesting to note that Livingstone’s buffalos passed through the tsetse fly
country, and, seemingly, were not affected by the bites of that insect, though
they all subsequently died as the result of maltreatment at the hands of the
Sepoys.

Livingstone again rcached the shores of Lake Nyasa, at its south-eastern gulf,
on the 8th of August, 1866 ; but being unable to cross without a dau he walked
richt round the southern end, and thence turned his steps northwards. At
Marenga's town, near the south-west corner of Lake Nyasa, there were rumours
of Angoni-Zulu raids, which greatly scared the coast-men of Livingstone's
caravan, who consequently abandoned him here; and to excuse themselves
at Zanzibar for their act of bad faith, they reported, with much corroborative
detail, the death of Livingstone at the hands of the Angoni.

Livingstone, after the desertion of these coast-men (who were natives of
the Comore Islands) pursued his way northwards, and reached the great
Luangwa river in Deccember, 1866; on the 28th of January, 1867, he crossed
the Chambezi river, which issues from the Bangweolo marshes, under the name
of the Luapula, and is in reality the extreme Upper Congo. On the 1st of
April he reached the south end of Lake Tanganyika, and for the time being,
believed it to be a separate lake under the name of Liemba; on the 8th of
November, 1867, he aiscovered Lake Mweru; on the 18th of July, 1868, Lake
Bangweoclo. Returning from Bangweolo, he journeyed with an Arab caravan
from Kazembe’s town near the south end of lake Mweru, to the west shor
of Tanganyika, which he crossed to Ujiji, reaching that place in March, 186¢}
After attempting in vain to organize a caravan for a journey round the north
end of Lake Tanganyika he recrossed the lake to the opposité side in July,
and having joined a large party of Arabs and Swahilis, he wandered with them
in the Manyema country for many months. His object was the Lualaba river
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(the Upper Congo) of which he had heard much to excite his curiosity, and
which river, he believed, with occasional misgivings, to be the Upper Nile.
But so erratic were the wanderings of the Arabs to and fro in the Manyema
conntry that Livingstone did not actually reach the banks of the Lualaba until
March, (871. Resolved to devote himself now to the tracing of what he
believed to be thc Upper Nile from its source on the Nyasa-Tanganyika
plateau to its entrance into the Albert Nyanza, Livingstone decided to return
to Ujiji and renew his stock of trade goods and provisions. His journey from
the Lualaba to Ujiji was accompanied by indescribable hardships, which
produced such an effect on his constitution that they eventually led to his
death two years later. Soon after returning to Ujiji he met Henry M. Stanley,
who had been sent by the New Veork Herald to “find Dr. Livingstone, living
or dead.”

Stanley’s arrival certainly added two years more to Livingstone's life, as
by a series of accidents and frauds he found himself absolutely destitute
of resources after his return to Ujiji. Together the two men made an ex-
ploration of the north end of Lake Tanganyika, and then journcyed castwards
to Unyanyembe, half way to Zanzibar. Here Livingstone insisted on parting
company with Stanley, though the latter earnestly entreated him to return
to Europe; but with Livingstone the idea of finding the ultimate sources of
the Nile had become almost a monomania, and he was resolved not to return
to Europe until he had mapped the upper waters of the Chambezi and the
Luapula, together with the river Lualaba, which took its rise in the Katanga
Highlands to the West. So he started off once more for Lake Bangweolo in
August, 18732, passing round the south end of Iake Tanganyika, and reaching
the castern shores of Lake Bangweolo in the month of April, 1873, But his
race was run, and he died at a village ncar the south end of that marshy lake
on or about the 1st of May, 1873.

Meantime Nyasaland had not long remained without English visitors. In
1867 Lieut. Young conducted an expedition to the south end of Iake Nyasa
to examine into the reports as to the murder of Livingstune by the Angoni.
Young (who only died a few months ago) conducted this expedition in a most
remarxably successful manner. He left England in the middle of May, 1867.
reached the Zambezi with three European companions and a steel boat on the
25th of July, journeyed with his baggage in the steel boat (which was named
The Search') and in a flotilla of smaller boats and canoes up the Zambezi and
the Shire to the Murchison cataracts; conveyed the steel boat overland to the
Upper Shire; reached Mponda’s town at the south end of Lake Nyasa;
«ollected a mass of information which conclusively proved that Livingstone
was not killed but had started unmolested on his way to the West; returned
to the Zambezi, and reached England at the beginning of 1868 after only eight
months’ absence.

Young had beer greatly helped in his transit of the Shire Highlands by
the Makololo whom Livingstone had left behind in that district after his
withdrawal from the Zambezi in 1864. Those who have read the well-known
works dealing with Dr. Livingstone's explorations will remember that on

“His first journey of discovery up and down the Zambezi he had been accom-
‘Panied by certain faithful Makololo porters who had followed him from the
Barutse country, on the Upper Zambezi. The so-called Makololo were a
section of the Bechuana people who, leaving Basutoland after tribal

} And is still plying on the Shire,
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- to note that the leader of the first Missionary expedition—Dr. Laws—

* Lake Nyasa (the /lala, which is still flymg) Mr. A. C. Simpson, a;rp

- assist the Mission in horticulture. *

~and had obtained permission to conduct an expedition 1

m ﬂae Barutse country.!  When Livingstone reached Tete ¢
~ to the East Coast in 1856 he left behind at that place ¢

- others who followed
~ Barutse country.

2 pumcyed across the Kalahari Deser(*,«

(about 25 in number), who had followed him from the per nt
his return in 1858 he picked them up again and added to their mtm
Elm of their own free will en his second ¢

These men were very useful to his eXpedition in exploring
Shire, dnd were of a masterful nature, easily imposing themselves as st
beings on the, timid Mafanja people of the Central Shire. en.
Livingstone had to leave the country, anxious to put a check on the
depredations of the Yao coming from the east, and the Angoni coming from
the west, he armed these Makololo, and left them behind to protect the
Mananja natives. The result was that they very soon constituted themselves
the chiefs of that country, and they subsequently played a most import:
part in checking the advances of the Yao and the Angoni, and in sti
resisting any attempts on the part of the Portuguese to conquer the Shil‘q. |
countries. b :

In 1874 Mr. Faulkner, who was one of the party accompanymg I’nput. ‘
Young, R.N, returned to the Shire as a hunter of big game. He was, 1
believe, evcntuallv killed by the natives. He had a son by a native mIe {
who now bears his name, and who was the first half-caste, so far as: ) know,
born in the Protectorate.

Livingstone’s death caused a tremendous enthusiasm to spring up for the.as'
continuation of his work as a Missionary and as an Explurer Cameron y
completed Burton’s and Livingstone's map of Lake Tanganyika; Stanley, at
the expense of the Daily Telegraph, continued the exploration Congo -
from Nyangwe, where Livingstone had left it, to the Atlantic Ocean; but in
Nyasaland proper Livingstone's work was :mmedxately continued by ﬂieﬁcaﬁqb,_
Missionaries. The Livingstonia Free Church Mission was fwnded m*x 4
and sent out its first party of Missionaries with a small steamer in
for Lake Nyasa, in 1875. They were joined, in 1876, by the Pioneers
the Church of Scotland Mission, who chose the site of the present town
Blantyre, and established themselves in the Shire Highlands, while thé Free
Church applied itself to the evangelisation of Lake Nyasa. It is inter g

went out in 1875, and the engineer of the first Mission steamer placed

and well, and hard at work in Nyasaland, the one as a senior men
Misgion -he has served so devotedly for twenty-one years, and thc Oﬂiﬂ'
prosperous planter at Mlanje. b

- Shortly after the Church of Scotland Mission had ests
Blantyre. a young gardener, named John Buchanan, was sent _

In 1878 Captain Frederick Elton had been appointed 'Calﬁhfat oca

2 Bn:m is stated to be derived from "B-lmmue” the n
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on the slave trade. He was accompanied by Mr. H. B. Cotterill, Mr. Herbert
Rhodes,! and Captain Hoste.

With the aid of wthe little Mission steamer Jlula Consul Elton explored the
north end of Lake Nyasa, which he was able to show extended much farther
northwards than had been supposed by Livingstone and Kirk. This northward |
extension of the Lake was further verified a few years afterwards by numerous
observations for Latitude taken by Mr. James Stewart, an engineer jin the
employ of the African Lakes Company. Consul Elton first made known to us
the remarkable Livingstone or Ukinga Mountains, at the end of I.ake Nyasa,
which attain an altitude, in parts, of nearly 10000 feet. UnMNappily Consul
Elton died in Wunyamwezi on his way to Zanzibar.

The Missions had not been long established when they found it impossible

MANDALA HOUSE, NEAR BLANTYRE

to conduct the necessary trade with the natives (for provisions could only
be obtained by barter) and the transport service between the codst and Lake
Nyasa, in addition to the ordinary Missionary work ; so it was resolved, in
Scotland, to found a small Company for trade.and transport, subsequently
styled *“The African Lakes Company,” which would be affiliated to the
Missions (in so far that its employés should be required to do a certain amount
of missionary work), but be conducted independently and on a commercial
basis. Two brothers, John William Moir and Frederick Maitland Moir, were
sent to Nyasaland as joint managers. They had been previously at work in
the employ of the late Sir William Mackinnon, on a road to Lake Tanganyika
which that philanthropist intended to construct inland from Dar-es-Salam,
opposite Zanzibar. 'I"{w headquarters of the Lakes Company were fixed at
15

4 % 3 Herbert Rhodes was a brother of Mr. (now the Right Honourable) Cecil ]. Rhodes, and had
come to Nyasaland 1o shoot l-l% game,  He accompanied Consul Elton as far as the north end of Lake
F o then returned to the Upper Shire, where he established himself for some time

¢ gained a greal reputation amongst the natives for bravery and fair dculiuf, amgl is
X ¢ plder men ot the present day under the name of © Roza.”  He swas burned ta death
: setting un fire of his hut. _ ; -
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Mandala ® (now a suburb of Blantyre), about one mile from the headquarters
of the Church of Scotland Mission. Mr. John Moir built a substantial house -
there, which still endures; and as he were spectacles he was called by the
natives “ Mandala,” a name meaning “ glass.” This nickname was soon applied.
to his residence, and gradually came to mean both the Afiican Lakes Compary,
and the place where they scttled near Blantyre. Mandala is now the official |
name of the headquarters of the African Lakes Company and of an important
suburb of Blantyre.

The Church of Scotland Mission in those days—that is to say at the end of
the seventies— was under the direction of two able men, the Rev. Alexander
Duff and the late Mr. Henry Henderson, the latter being the business managear
and the principal lay member; but it had attached to it also certain lay
members who were cither badly chosen, or who developed into bad characters
when they came into contact with African savagery. It is only necessary to
specify one of these—George Fenwick—whose name cannot be ignored in the
history of this Protectorate.  These men soon began to treat the natives with
great harshness, and taking advantage of the dread in which white men were
held, to bully and extort, and raise themselves almost to the position of petty
chiefs. Indeed, in reviewmg all that has happened since LEuropeans settled
in this part of Africa, I have been increasingly struck with the rapidity with
which such members of the white race as are not of the best ciass, can throw
over the restraints of civilisation and develop into savages of unbridled lust and
abominable cruelty. These lay members of the Mission attempted to exercise
a kind of jurisdiction over the natives in the vicinity of the Mission stations,
and so severe were their punishments that one native was sentenced to death
and was shot, while other natives actually died from the awfyl floggings
they reccived. Two English sportsmen, returning from Nyasaland, conveyed
the news of these outrages to the consular authorities in Portuguese East
Africa; the Foreign Office took up the matter, and eventually the Church
of Scotland Mission sent out commissioners to hold an enquiry into the
charges.  Mr. Nunes, H. M. Vice-Cogsul at Quclimane, represented Her
Majesty's Government on this enquiry, which resulted in the charges being
in great measure proved.!  The ordained minister who was at the head of the
Mission at Blantyre resigned ; though no blame was imputed to him, as he did-
not possess the means of controlling the actions of his subordinates. But after
what had otcurred he preferred to withdraw from the Mission® Mr. John
Buchanan also at this time left the Mission, and set up for himself in-
dependently, as a coffee planter.  George Fenwick and other lay members
of the Mission, who were implicated in the deeds referred to, were dismissed,
and the first-mentioned went to live among the natives as an elephant hunter
In 1881 the Revs, D. €. Scott and Alexander Hetherwick came out to Africa
and took charge of the Church of Scotland Mission, implanting on its work
a very different character to the ill-fame which had temporarily clouded its
earlier days owing to the misdeeds of its lay assistants. The indirect result,
however, of the increasing British settlement in Nyasaland® was to induce Her -
Majesty’s Government to cstablish a British Consul for Nyasa, and in 1883

1 P e T fsi e i
- sugl':tl;:iﬂ:n;irg;::-!::-i:l:-; :u:.h:u:::':‘:',ﬂ“ ion makes very painful reading, and further expatiation on

ce an excellently written book called stfricana, by the Rev. Alexander Duff {Sampson Low & Co.)
S vl the hest books ever written on Africa. -

By this time jhe African Lakes Company had placed their small stenmer, 7ke Zady Nyasa, on the
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(apt. Foot, R.N,, went to Blantyre with his wife and childYen, taking with himl
vir. D. Rankin as private secretary.

Duiing all thesesyears the Malkololo chiefs had become increasingly powerful.
At first they had seemed disposed to welcome the British, but there were times
when they became arrogant and exacting in their demands. Still, on the
whole, they were a valuable counterpoise to the aggressive Yao, some of whom
pecame highway robbers and rifled the Mission and African Lakes Compang’s
caravans. There were two of the Makololo chiefs specially prominent—
Ramakukane and Chipatula. Ramakukane was seemingly of real Makolole
origin, and had been the son of a chief or headman in the Barutse country,
who had accompanied Livingstone back to Nyasaland, after his second visit
to the Barutse country. Chipatula was once of Livingstone’s old porters.
Ramakukane was established at Katunga on the Central Shire, and Chipatula
at or near the modern Chiromo, where the river Ruo joins the Shire, and where
the present Anglo-Portuguese boundary runs.  Ramakukane was, on the whole,
friendly to the Europeans. Chipatula chiefly concerned himself in repelling
the attempts of the black Portugucse from the Zambezi to establish themselves
as slave traders on the Shire. He not only kept these half-castes at bay, but
even extended his rule far down the Shire towards the Zambezi. The George
Fenwick of whom | have made mention, after leaving the service of the
Mission had set up for himself as a trader and clephant hunter. He was a
headstrong, lawless man, who inspired fear and admiration alternately, in the
minds of the natives. Ic had had several commercial transactions in selling
ivory for Chipatula, and visited that chief at Chiromo in 1884 to settle accounts
with him.  Both men had been drinking spirits; Chipatula refused to accept
lenwick’s version of accounts and applied opprobrious terms to him.  Fenwick
siarted up in a rage and shot Chipatula dead. Before the chief’s astonished
followers could take any action he rushed out of the hut towards the river
shore, and shouted to them, “ Your chief is dead, I amn your chief now,” but
seeing that the natives were rather more inclined to avenge Chipatula’s death
than to adopt his slayer as his successor, he got into a canoc at the river side,
and paddled across the river to Malo Island. Here for three days he led a
wretched existence attempting to defend himsclf from the attacks of the

natives. He was at last overcome and killed, and his head was cut off. The"

Makololo chiefs then became quite inimical to the white settlers. They shot
at and sunk the little steamer Lady Nyasa, and they sent an insolent messagzc
to Blantyre, demanding that Mrs. Fenwick, the wife of the adventurer, should
be delivered over to them, together with an enormous sum as compensation
for the death of Chipatula. Consul Foot finally succeeded, with the help .of
Ramakukane, in restoring peace, and Mr. John Moir recovered the Lady Nyasa.
Consul Foot, however, died not long afterwards from the effects of the fatigue
and anxiety he had undergone. Chipatula was succeeded by a man named
Mlauri, also one of Livingstone's men, but not friendly to the British ; and old
Ramakukane died. “The demeanour of the Makololo as the years went by
became increasingly insolent and hostile towards the Europeans, English as
2l as Portuguese,
In 1881 .a fresh element of British influence had appeared on the shores
Lake Nyasa, in the arrival of the Rev. W. P. johnson and Mr. Charles
nson, of the Universities Mission to Central Africa—that Mission wh
shop, Mackenzie, had died near Chiromo on the Shire in. §862. It Wil
membéred that the Universities Mission had been founded®at the indance
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of Livingstone, but after establishing itself in the Shire highlands in 1862 had
been obliged to quit that country owing to the hostilities shown by the Yao.
Since that time the Mission had concentrated itseil ateZanzibar, andl had
founded stations on the East Coast of Africa.  That really great ma'],_?ilshnp
Steere, the third of the Missionary bishops to Central Africa, had set his heart
on reopening work in Nyasaland. He walked overland from the {ndian
Ocean to the east coust of the lake. Subsequently lLake Nyasa was reached
by the Rev. W. I’ Johnson, accompanied by Mr. Charles Janson. The latter
fell i1, and died on the shores of Lake Nyasa  In his will he bequeathed a
sum of money for the construction of a Mission steamer to be placed on the
lake. Other subscriptions were raised, and eventually the Charles Janson was
launched on Lake Nyasa, where she still exists.  The Rev. Chauncey Maples
and other recruits from the Mission had meantime joined Mr. Johnson. Bishop
Steere had been succeeded by Bishop Smythies! who if anything ook an
increased interest in the establishment of his Mission on Lake Nyasa, to which
lake he paid repeated visits.  The Rev. Chauncey Maples was made Archa,
deicon of Nyasa?  Sceing the troublous condition of the Yao countries, and
the shores of Lake Nyasa, where the unfortunate A-nyanja inhabitants were
alternately raided by Magwangwara,® Arabs and Yao, the Universities Mission
resolved to establish its headquarters on the Island of Likoma, which is distant
about eight miles from the cast coast of lLake Nyasa, and consequently is not
so subject to the attacks of the Magwangwara or Yao.

The Livingstonia Mission under the able guidance of Dr. Robert Laws, M.D,
had been for years making steady progress on the west coast of Lake Nyasa.
Their first experiments at Cape Maclear,® a promontory which divides the
southern end of the luke into two gulfs, were not very successful.  The settle-
ment of Livingstonin,—which still exists but where only native adherents of
the Mission dwell at the present time,—proved to be extremely unhealthy for
Furopeans, and many missionaries died there,  Dr. Laws decided, therefore,
to transfer the headquarters of the Mission to Bandawe, about midway up the
west coast of the lake, a place in the middle of the Atonga country. Here the -
Free Church Mission was confronted with an immediate difficulty in the shape
of the Angoni-Zulu of the interior, who were gradually exterminating and
enslaving the indigenous people of the lake-coast, known as the Atonga, who
were related in origin to the A-nyanja stock. The Free Church Mission,:
thercfore, set’ itself to work to conciliate the Angoni, and obtained such
influence over them, after some years, that they stopped to a great extent their -
raids over the coast people. At any rate the Mission stations served as a
harbour of refuge for the harried Atonga, who were eventually able to recover
their position and assert themsclves against the invaders.

About the end of the seventies the London Missionary Society resolved
to take up Tanganyika as a sphere of work. Their journeys thither were made
overland from Zanzibar; but when they decided to have a steamer placed
on Tanganyika they found it easier to send its sections by ¢he Lake Nyasa
route. The explorer, Joseph. Thomson, had reached the north end of Lake
Nyasa in 1880, and had journcyed thence to Tanganyika. This exploration
- l‘. Dicd at sea on his way back to England in 1894, worn out by ten years of incessant toil and physical

rue, 0
&’_’ Became Bishop of Likoma in 1893, and was drowned in‘Lake Nyasa a few months a&em&ds'b!
the ; zing of his boat in a storm. e
A scetion of the Angoni-Zulu, established east of Lake Nyasa.

Named by Livirgstone after the Astronomer-Royal of Cape Town,
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had assisted in fixing the relative position of the two lakes and showing that
the land transit between them did not much exceed 200 miles. The African
l.akes Company were entrusted with the contract for conveying the Londap |
Missionary Society's steamer from Nyasa to Tanganyika, an enterprise success-
fully accomplished in 1885. Mr. James Stevenson, a director of the Lakes
(ompany, was struck with the idea of making a permanent road from lake
o lake, and subscribed a sum of! I believe, 42000 or £ 3000, for the purpose
of making preliminary surveys. The Stevenson road, however, was never
completed, but the route it was to follow was roughly cleared for about sixty
miles from Lake Nyasa. The engineers concerned in this wofk died of fever,
ana further operations were checked by the outbreak of war with the Arabs.
The London Missionary Society did not, at first, think much of the Lake
Nyasa route to Tanganyika, but preferred the overland journey from Zanzibar.
They therefore devoted their attention more to the middle portion of the lake,
especially the west coast opposite to Ujiji, and established themsclves here
the dsland of Kavala. The unhealthiness of this place. however, and the
ubles which began to arise on Tanganyika after the first Belgian expeditions,
from the subsequent uprising against the Germans, obliged the London
issionary Society’s agents to alter their plans.  They transferred their
stablishments to the south end of the lake, in order to be brought into more
direct communication with the British settlements in Nyasaland.

The first serious danger which may be said to have menaced the infamt
Isettlements in Nyasaland, was the trouble with the Makololo chiefs, to which 1
have already referred. The next danger, and a much more serious one,
arcse from the conflict with the Arabs who had settled at the north end of
Lake Nyasa. When Livingstone and Kirk first explored Lake Nyasa they
practically only found the Arabs established in a few places—at one or other
of the ports on what is now the Portugucse coast of lLake Nyasa, and at
Kotakota on the western shore of the lake;! at which latter place Livingstone
visited an  Arab settlement under the control of a person called “ Jumbe,”
who was a coast Arab, and a representative or wali of the Sultan of Zanzibar.
Jumbe means “ prince” on the mainland opposite Zanzibar, and the Sultan had
no doubt chosen as his representative a inan who went to Nyasa for trade
purposes . principally, but who was of sufficiently good standing to exercise
some show of authority, in the Sultan’s name, over the Arabs wandering in
those regions. When I use the term “ Arabs” I mean both Arabs with white
skins of pure blood (and usually natives of 'Oman or of Southern Arabia)
“nd every degree of intermixture and type between the Arab and the negro,
50 that some of our so-called Arabs in Nyasaland are quite black, though in
e shape of their features or in their beards, they may retain traces of the
intermixture of a superior race. But all these so-called Arabs are sharply
:hstm.guished from the ordinary negroes by dressing in Arab costume, using the
Arapic language, and by being stricter and more intelligent in their practices
of the Muhamshadan religion.

The first interference of the Arabs with Nyasaland was merely to secure
' Passage across the lake in their caravan journeys to the countries of Senga,
: ',”'”53. &nd Luwemba, which journeys were undertaken for ivory, or slaves, and
'ad commenced, as I have already related, by their following back into South
Central Africa the Babisa caravams that formerly traded with Zanzibar. ,FThe

zi«::';,:n s V'-—as the natives call it, the Arabs having cocrupted the name into the easier pronus.-
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g“uha,".': : rl"l;t.:m.revcr. soon established themselves in strong stockades in the ST a
=
3

; . ey an
| country, through which the great Luangwa River ﬁo?s-keT§e“ :‘tfm lziei?ect i
_to adopt, as an alternative route to the jousney st o 'kayasiateau - ANOATEES
i ' ey from Zanzibar overland across the .\yasa-‘Tn"gany{-,e pe cunr‘lect i
“wradually the strong Arab dominion on Lake Tanganyika became c« Arabs
gradually i try and o Lake Nyasa. The
with the settlements in the Senga country J i Merere, an
had also found a friend and ally in Merert, o
intelligent and enterprising chief of the \’\-a.—s_dl:;:m
people, who had his capital in the high mountaino 5
region to the north of Lake Nyasa. In their Journey
to and fro between Senga and the sea coast, by way
of the Nyasa-Tanganyika plateau, the Arabs became
struck with the magnificent fertility and the wealth
in cattle of the Nkonde country at the north end 9f
Lake Nvasa. A certain Zanzibar Arab, named Mlozi,!
appears to have commenced by trading in the country,
and gradually proceeded to surround his trade est'ab-
lishments with stockades and by degrees t?!.kt'.‘ forml;ie
possession of this delectable land. Mlozi had, with
several other Arabs, established strong trading stations
. : . in the Senga country, and was almost a prince among
1. moxTErTH vorurmneuas  slave traders. But Mlozi's schemes were not tlJ'be S0
easily accomplished. Priw]n his settlement in the
Nkonde country, or simultaneous with it at any rate;fhe Lakes Company I'Ead
obtained a footing at Karonga for the purpose of opening up communication
with Lake Tanganyika, |
The Lakes Company had employed amongst other Europeans two notable
men to conduct the expeditions which transported the London Missionary
Saciety's steamer in sections from Nyasa to Tanganyika. These men w
Low Monteith Fotheringham and John Lowe Nicoll. Mr. Fotheringham h
become finally their agent at Karonga, on the north-
west coast of Lake Nyasa, while Mr. Nicoll was chiefly ' e
employed on Tanganyika and in going backwards and
forwards between Nyasa and Tanganyika. Fothering-
ham was a mgn of very strong character and upright
disposition, severe occasionally with the natives in
maintaining the laws which he laid down for the
amaintenance of order, but of great bravery, and
absolutely just in his dealings. No qualities ensure
a man greater favour amongst the negroes than
mingled firmness and justice; and the natives of the
north end of Lake Nyasa, the Mambwe of the Nyasa-
Tanganyika plateau, and the Atonga of West N'yasa,
came by degrees to look upon Mr. Fotheringham? as
their 'natur_ul leader and champion. The Arabs under
Mlozi began to press their rule on the Nkonde people. .
The Wankonde Iool_cgl-d to Fotheringham for advice and protection, thhering.
ham was at first disinclined to interfere in the quarrels, as he feared that the

JOHN LOWE NICOLL

! Mlozi means in Swahili **an almond tree ™ but 1 ex ivati :
' I > ‘ t =
from M ulozi (= u sorcerer) in the dialects spoken in the Senga nlg;cBisLlcco'lf::ﬁS;.'lmtm o Papriie
* Whom they called Montisi, from an Africanising of his second name, Sl
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0 e i .
results of afight with the Arabs might seriously prejudice the Lakes Company’s
Josition, and cut off communication with Lake Tanganyika; but he was not
long left the choice®of remaining neutral, for the Arabs appear to have come to
the conclusion that the conquest of all the Nkonde country was impossible
until they had first driven out the British traders and Missionaries; for two
missionaries, the Rev. Mr. Bain and Dr. Kerr Cross,! had already settled at the
north end of Lake Nyasa .in tht service of the Free Church Mission. Of
course much of the friction that had arisen between the Arabs and the Lakes
Company's agent came from the undoubted sympathy which the British traders
showed for the Wankonde in their hopeless struggle against the Arab forces.
One fact may be cited in particular as an example of the atrocious way in

GROUF OF WANKONDE [NORTH NYASA)

i Which the Arabs conducted this war of conquest. The Wankonde, who wer
entirely and only armed with spears, had been defeated in an engagement with
the Arabs, and took refuge on the banks of the Kambwe lagoon, on the shore
of Lake Nyasa. The Arabs surrounded them, set fire to the dry reeds, and

; Cf?!ll}:clled the wretched Wankonde to enter the water, where hundreds of them

i‘; ¢re devoured by crocodiles, and large numbers were shot, stabbed, or

tLr,W"ed't Sevegal refugees from this and other fights found their way into the

m‘Fk_@:‘i COn_'_lpany’s station, which was then unfortified. Mr. Fotheringham's
fortj-}dl to give them up and his answering the Arab threats by commencing to

3 Y Kaftmga were no doubt the causes which decided the Arabs to make
A on the Karonga station. Fortunately before this attack took place

08 is still servi ical mi in thi of Africa, where he has done

:%m;:ﬂ‘u:‘ ﬁlﬁgamt? rmcmmvg:yn many sick Europeans. )

escription of these horrors see pp. 80, 81, and 82 of the late Mr. Fotheringham's
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e eived. Mr. Nicoll armed_ rom . %
_-g&{q;‘:ﬁx‘e‘f;ﬁf rr:tcumcd from South Nyasa bringing Consu eill, of

" Mogambique, and Mr. Alfred Sharpe and two other gentlemén who had decided

Ay ; Europeans threatened by the Arabs. g
S Rhonga s atackd an Dooged for oy though the, Arae wer
rhting : eve 3kl P
ity epddacd after despemtt?ccﬁ%;u:ﬁften;;lc, and after communicating the
B news of his dangerous situation to the _M_ar_lagcr
4 L0y & at Mandala, Mr. Fotheringham, Mr. Nicoll, and
the others who had joined them, decided to with-
draw with the Wankonde chiefs into a part of
the country where they would be better sheltered
from the Arab attack. They removed most of
their goods in canoes, abandoned the station at
Karonga, and remained in the country at the
extreme north end of the lake until reinforce-
ments arrived. Amongst the volunteers who
came to their aid, were Mr. Consul Hawes and
Mr. John Moir. The arrival of these slight
reinforcements and the aid of five thousand
natives enabled Mr. Fotheringham to attack,

ially destroy Mlozi’ de at

OHN W. MOIR enter, and partially destroy Mlozi's stocka :

‘ Mpata (in which attack both Mr. Alfred Sharpe

[ and Mr. John Moir were wounded). But the native allies abandoned the

stockade after having loaded themselves with loot and the whites had-tﬂ
retreat without consummating their defeat of the Arabs by the destruction
of all their stockades. After this all the volunteers rctt}med to_ S_quth
Nyasa and Messrs. Fotheringham, Nicoll, and Kerr Cross lived for a time
at Chirenje, to the north-west of Karonga, while the Arabs regained m'sﬂge
extent their former position, though they never were able actively to assume the
offensive. Early in March, more volunteers returned to North Nyas_a__- Wiﬁh
them came Mr. John Buchanan (Acting Consul) and Mr. Fred Mqlr,tio!li‘-’
manager of the Lakes Co. Mr. Buchanan attempted .
to negotiate a peace with the Arabs, but the negotia-
tions had noeresult. Hostilities were then resumed,
but Mr. Fred Moir was severely wounded, and again
owing to the vacillation of their native allies the British
failed 1o score any great success.

When the news of this fighting at the north end of
Lake Nyasa reached the outer world, several gentlemen
volunteered to assist the Lakes Company, the principal
among these being Capt. Lugard! who was constituted
by the Lakes Company the Commander of their forces .
in North Nyasa. Capt. Lugard was subsequently re- ygm,m:;cz
Joined by Mr, Alfred Sharpe® by Mr, Richard Crawsha :
(who had also come to the country as a hunter), by Mr. John Moir, a

! Now Major Lugard, c.u, ¥

* Now Her Majesty’

s Deputy Commissioner and Consul, Mr, Sharpe ori nally -

to tl:untt clcl:;hugl; nn[d big game, ‘but hearing of the Lakes Company's tﬁi“t.resn ¢ ‘--

- with Censul O'Neill in the manner above related,  Afier bej wound
south o recover he returned with C P .

aptain Lupard and fi t out i
up overland at the head of « large . Flionin, - s -onk the it 'ﬂ"e :

number of Atongn,
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Mr. l‘rﬂcn’ét Moir, whose arm had been severely wounded, had returned to
Scotland o recover his health. From thence he succeeded in sending out a
7-pounder gun, as it was felt the Arabs could only be adequately fought
with artillery, But unfortunately, although this gun ultimately reached its
destination, it was not provided with the right kind of ammunition. Its

MR, ALFRED SHARPE IN 1800

:‘[.1,:-;,!“"“““35? dnilled round holes in the tough stockades which, being made of
\'"1es and mud, did not offer sufficient resistance for a real breach to be made.
f '],.,;"F’fi deal of damage was done to the Arabs who were shut up in their
{[“?% and much inconvenienced for lack of food, but the British, on the
hore ,m"d' suffered severely, having one of their officers killed and several
from ;:r less severely wounded, besides the terrible ill-health which resulted
Biioa _:jgh““g during the rainy season. Amongst the wounded was Captain

A Wl“f’ returned to Blantyre, got his wound partially healed, and then
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command at Karonga. . Captain. Nyasi-
the spring of 1889, finding it impossible war to
onclusion without disciplined troops and efficient 2 a2 :
AT A attempt was made by Sir Charles Euan-Smith, F er Majes nst
General at Zanzibar, to induce the Sultan g_f that place to inter d to
 bring the war to a conclusion by compelling the Arabs to come %mﬁ
_with the British. The Sultan accordingly dispatched an envoy, but

~ commanded very little weight in the councils of the thuga Acahs,‘ﬂvho
~ considered themselves quite independent of the Sultan’s au oncil:y o kn.
' “The conseqlences of this war with the Arabs, which was clearly known
by the natives of Nyasaland to be a war for the suppression of th sl.mfc
e de, aroused a good many expressions of ill-feeling against the E
“the

;

II ;r 1 dr g L 5
uchanan, who had been Acting Consul since the departure on leave
e ! _Qf:hﬁ_r_BHa\\’es, attempted to open up friendly relations with Makanjira, the
2 Ydo chief on the south-east coast of the lake. He paid him a visit with ﬂlc
< Rev. W. P. Johnson, in the Mission steamer, the Charles Janson. To their
surprise, however, they had no sooner landed than they were _sglz_ed,__l_ r gped
. of their clothes, and grossly maltreated They were imprisoned in huts,
and Makanjira announced his intention of killing them, and would probably
have done so, but for the persuasion of some Zanzibar Arabs, who represented
that their deaths would certainly be avenged, and that the Sultan of Zanzibar
would hold them—the intercessors—responsible, after what had occurred, if
> English subjects were killed in their presence, and without remonstrance on
+ . their part. Makanjira accordingly held his captives up to ransom. They
were obliged to write to’the engineer of their steamer, which was in __th‘e
offing, to send on shore an enormous supply of trafle goods and _shu;s
stores.  When these things arrived Makanjira released them, though he
neither restored their clothes nor the personal property of which they had
been robbed.  Mr. Buchanan, the Acting Consul, had even been whipped
with a chikote! by Makanjira's orders—not severely, but just with two or,
three stripes to show his contempt for the British. i oY
After a little vacillation the Arabs of Tanganyika had decided not to join
with their fellow countrymen in the war against the British, and indeed after
a little more, deliberation, that section under the orders of Tiputipu
determined to protect the British missionaries on Lake Tanganylrg %"
r

part of the Muhammadan Yao on the east coast of Lake Nyas:

==

W

violence at the hands of any other Arabs who might, in consequence
uprising against the Germans, have resolved to assassinate all
in the interior. Likewise the Arab settlement at Kotakota, which
the third in succession of “ Jumbes” who continued to be the
Sultan of Zanzibar, resolved to remain neutral. Generally s
be said that at this crisis the influence of the Sultan of Zanzibar
strongly in favour of the British. Had he not compelled peace
understanding with them, all the Arabs of Central Africa wéuld
united in a war to drive us out of Lake Nyasa, and would have
succeeded in doing so, as in those days owing to difficulties with:
it was found very difficult to import supplies of guns and ammu
The general situation in British Central Africa, before I
connected with its fortunes, was as follows, &

: A whip of hippopotamus hide, "
Whom, of course, the British w2/ call Tippoo-tib,
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ower 10 80 it by revolution) and the descendants of the

who were of Baloi, or Balui, stock. These latter had replaced in sovereign
power the Bechuana! kmgs But otherwise the government of the Upper
Zambezi countries in their political tendencies remained much what it%? *.
in the days when Livingstone first discovered Barutseland. Eastwards of the
Barutse country, the lands of the Bashikulombwe, of the Batonga and Manika,

remained in a state of utter barbarism, fiercely recalcitrant to Europear ._:.;;:,'
rescarches. Little was known of the country since the explorations of Kirk :‘:

and Livingstone; Dr. Emil Holub, an Austrian explorer, had been repulsed ;
Mr. Selous, who had penetrated farthest into this part of Central Africa, was.
attacked and obliged to fly for his life; and Jesuit Missionaries had either &
maltreated, killed, or expelled, in their attempts to penetrate these countrie§. &
On the lower part of the great Luangwa river, the country was harried by"ﬁ%‘f? 1
chieftains from the Zambezi, who called themselves “ Portuguese,” on "the
strength of remote Goanese descent. In the Senga and Lubisa coun?d.
Arabs and Swahilis were carrying on the slave trade, and gradually establishing
themsélves in the land by means of building stockaded towns. At the sou ‘-i
end of Lake Tanganyika there were one or two missionaries settled and =
building. At the north end of -Lake Nyasa a war between Arabs and Scotch
traders had been going on for two years. Missionaries were peacefully at work 1
in West Nyasaland, but on the east coast of the lake their work "was
paralysed by the hostility of Makanjira. The Yao, who, since Livingst (‘ .
first arrival in the country, had gradually conquered much of the Shire "
Highlands, and had established themselves at the south end, and along the
south-east and south-west coasts of Lake Nyasa, were engaged, either in
incessant civil war amongst themselves, in attacks on their weaker neighbours,

or in hostilities against the British. . In the Shire Highlands coffee-planting had
already begun under Mr. Buchanan, who had been joined by two of his
brothers, and under Mr. Sharrer, a British subject of German descent, who

had established himself as a planter and trader in Nyasaland. In the Shire
Highlands the missionaries ofP the Church of Scotland Mission had acquired a
cnnsiqerabie influence, an influence justly due to their high character and their
devotion to the interests of the natives, but an influence which at that time !
they were too much inclined to exercise with the view to governing the country
??’”‘“5?1"&, independently of Consuls or other representatives of Her Majesty. e
Ihe rival to the Scotch Missionaries, as a governing body, was the A nﬁ‘
]--ﬂk?s Company, which was half hoping for a Charter, and was striving to
obtain from the native chiefs a coneession of governing rights. Sometimes
the interests of the Lakes Company and the Mission were conflicting, and

1;5}4 infreg e two or three independent planters could agree with m:lthe:t.L :
e Universitigs Missic supposed to hold the opinion that the war with =
:h:. ‘gmm ng to its friendly relations on the lake &ﬁ

i to the Sultan of Zanzibar, that Missx
ovement for the expulsion of the Ara
lical Mission had established i

did not |
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id is only artificially connected wit _
the fact that at present it is included within th
erwise its history is mainly connected in the
South Africa, and in the future it will

inquestionably
g nage of that portion of the Empire! , PR B
?p’fhzgegreatest digioculty which at that time hampered the dcf\m}ppm :
'_ part of British Central Africa, was the fact that it coul
~ approached from the outer world through Portuguese East African Possessis
~ In those days, anyone wishing to proceed to Lake Nyasa, and shirking
‘overland journey from Zanzibar, which was lengthy, arduous, and, of
of risk, landed at Quelimane, a little to the north 9[‘ the Za
journeyed up the Kwakwa River in small boats to a point cg-llled _
" crossed overland, a distance of three or four miles, to Vicenti, a trading’ sti
on the Zambezi. At Vicenti one was met by either of the African I
Company's two steamers, the James Stevenson or the Lady Nyasa, and so
« travelled on up the Zambezi and up the Shire, as far as the season of the yeaf,
and consequent depth of the waters would permit, and thence om‘lnnd
. to the British settlements. This route, however, compelled travellers to land
f “at the Portuguese port of Quelimane; and even assuming the Kwakwa to be,
like the Zambezi, an international waterway, a fact which could not be asserted
and maintained, it was impossible to reach the waters of the Zambezi without
ssing a mile or so of Portuguese territory. No arrangement existed with
i:rtuga] to secure us exemption from Customs duties or even graver
#%  hindrances that might be pkiced in our way by the local Portuguese authorities,
and these authoritiecs—bearing in mind that the boundaries of Portuguese and
British influence in the Hinterland had not yet been settled—were naturally
very jealous of this immigration of British subjects, the said British subje
being never too careful of Portuguese rights and susceptibilities. It was this
difficulty with the Portuguese which had caused Her Majesty’s Governmen
in 1863 to arrive at the conclusion that the Zambezi expedition of Livir
must be recalled. It was again this difficulty which hampered Her Maje
Government in the “eighties,” in preventing them from affording active ass
to the traders on Lake Nyasa in their war with the Arabs, and, ind
formulating any decisive policy inf regard to Nyasaland. Had it been
for vessels of fair size and draught to enter the river Zambezi from
Al these difficulties from overland transport would have disappeared.
: ﬂa’]e&tys Government had for some time past maintained the principle o
, o freedom of navigation of the Zambezi, but although ships did oce

T

eed in getting over the bar of the Kongone mouth—a bar on s
w tide there was only a depth of 5 to 6 feet of water—the entorpris
ain to be often prosecuted, and the best proof of its impra
35 the fact that the African Lakes Company had almost. aband
'..‘5'3 o the Zambezi, and preferred to pay the heavy Customs duties of Oue
[ -%?d:_sqult to all reasonable restrictions on the part of the Portugues
. than attempt to communicate with the Shire by means of the Kor
1 I Qf‘t,be Zambezi—an attempt indeed which they could only mak
'.. ) _ 3 Whereas, on the other hand, the history of the eastern half of British al
Fa m Rivery has always leen mixed up with that of Zanzibar and the n
. N 3 ; .
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. a discovery of the greatest importance was made, 1
{ the political aspect of the question. Mr. Daniel J. Rank
an lorer who had originally proceeded to Nyasaland as private secretary
) Consul Foot, and who had also acted in a Consular capacity at Mocambique, ;
was enabled by the Royal Scoftish Geographical Society to institute an |
exploration of the Zambezi delta. In the course of his journey he disccveiﬁif*g"r:;
the &inde mouth of the Zambezi, which apparently was quite unknown to the =
Portuguese Government, though it had probably been first discovered by a
Portuguese planter who was working a concession in the delta. This planter's .
information put Mr. Rankin on the track of his discovery, which he announced
to the world in the spring of 1889." It was briefly this, that the Chinde mouth
of the Zambezi possessed a bar shorter and safer and simpler than that of any ' =
other outlet of the Zambezi, and with a minimum depth of water at high tide

of 17 feet (as against, say, 10 feet at the Kongone). At the time Mr. Rankin
sounded the bar, I believe he found a depth of water on it of 21 or 22 feet, _
a depth which has several times since been recorded, but chiefly at that season

of the year when the river was visited by Mr. Rankin, namely when the
Zambezi is in full Alood. Ordinarily the depth of water at high spring-tides 4
is 17 to 19 feet. Not only was the Chinde bar a far less serious obstacle :

| than that of any other mouth of the Zambezi, but its channel from the sea

into the main Zambezi was easier of navigation than the other branches of
that river. In its far-reaching political importance, probably no great
discovery in the history of British Central Africa has been made than that
;l’ tt;zpavig'ability_ of the Chinde River from the Indian Ocean to'the main
Lambezi. .

1 In the 7¥mes Newspaper.
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‘THE FOUNDING OF THE PROTECTORATE

Nyasaland dates from the commencement of 1884. #5
I had returned from a prolonged examination of the western 'ba.sm
of the River Congo and my opinion was invi.ted at the Foreign C_)fﬁce on ccrﬁmn
points connected with the proposed treaty with Portugal regulating the political
and commercial affairs of the Lower Congo. e .
This treaty contained a clause providing that Portuguese political i
should cease in the direction of Nyasaland at the junction of the Rl
Shire rivers. Had the treaty been ratified this clause would have ob dany
‘further frontier disputes with Portugal, north of the Zambezi; but owing to
unreasonable opposition in certain quarters it was not ratified, and then the
Berlin Conference was called to deal generally with questions affecting the
Congo and the Niger,and Zambezian affairs were postponed in their settlement.
The Portuguese were now free of any obligation in regard to Nyasaland, and
being an enterprising and ambitious people, determined once more to revive
their scheme of a trans-continental Empire from Angola to Mmm%de‘d
including the southern part of what is now Central Africa. They were aide
in dthlesc assumptions by the remarkable journeys of-*their explorers, Capello
and Ivens, '
Lord Salisbury's Ministry, however, had succeeded to power, and in
speeches in the House of Lords the Premier could not conceal the interest -
he felt in the struggle going on between the Arabs and the African La
Company, or his resolve to maintain Nyasaland as a country open to
enterprise without the restrictions which would result from its 1
to any other European Power. Owing to the difficulty about a direct v
& route into the heart of South Central Africa to which I have alluded
. last chapter, 1 believe it was not the object of Her Majesty's Minist
0 establish any actual Protectorate over Nyasaland : they mer
it should become neither German nor Portuguese, but be ruled
Ve ‘:ﬂ-l:i:fs"t m}'nldmidthe advice, it might be, of a British Consul,* 1 am
% at it should remain open to the British trader a
without let or hinclra.ncca-.E " Piantes m@ N
“In 1888 I had returned from three years of Consular work :
I+ Coast Protectorate, and in the summer of that year Lord Salisbury
conversation with me at Hatfield in which he developed his
Zambezia % From this conversation I date, to a g-feat ter

ANY direct personal interest which I may have taken in the affairs of

.u-;uq_.___..
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t (ur.tﬁc"po ‘_ G?beplﬁinﬁl In the autumn of 1888 1 was oﬂ'eredﬁl and )
a]fcr:,pmd e post of Consul to Portuguese East Africa. At the beginning "Pé
of 1880 it was decided by the Foreign Office that I should travel in the interior,

and report on the troubles which had arisen with the Arabs, and above all with
the Portuguesc; and that in those districts admittedly beyond Portuguese
jurisdiction 1 should take measures to secure the country from abrupt seizure
by other European Powers, by congluding treaties of friendship with the native .
chiefs, in which they bound themselves not to transfer their governing rights
to any European Power without the consent of Her Majesty’s Government.
Before starting for my post, however, it was thought by LordsSalisbury that
| might, by personal intercourse with the Portuguese Authorities at Lisbon,
suggest some modus vivendi with regard to the settlement of our conflicting A
claims. I, accordingly, spent some six weeks in Portugal, and in conjunction
with Her Majesty’s Envoy, Mr,, now Sir George, Petre, discussed the subject
of Nyasaland at the Portuguese Foreign Office. A draft arrangement was
drawn up, which after some modifications was shown to the Portuguese Minister
for Foreign Affairs, and approved by him. It was then submitted to the
English Foreign Office, but as it did not provide for the exclusion of the Shire
Highlands from the Portuguese Sphere it was not deemed acceptable by Her
Majesty's Government, as the chief object of any such arrangement at that
time was to secure the work of the English missionaries and planters from
interference.  This arrangement might, however, have been modified in that
respect without difficulty on the part of the Portuguese, but the fact was that
the Government felt reluctant to push the matter to an immediate conclusion
in the face of two obstacles, one being the want of direct water communication
with the interior beyond the Portuguese Sphere, and the other, the difficulty
which would be experienced by the Imperial Government at that time, in
finding funds for incurring the great responsibility of administering the districts
bordering on Lake Nyasa, a territory that did not then promise much or, indeed,
any local revenue of its own. Two things now occurred to dispel Government
anxieties on these accounts : Mr. Rankin announced his discovery of the Chinde
mouth, and Mr. Cecil Rhodes arrived in England to obtain a Charter for his
gﬁmpany. I‘ made the ac?uaintance of Mr. Rhodes. and found him much
Z'_*’P“Stf! to interest himself in the extension of British influence across the
ambezi. As the result of several conferences Mr. Rhodes was able to assure
?;” Foreign Office that his proposed Chartered Company would find at least
& oi?c':o ;; year, fqr several years, for the development and administration
el e and. Under these new circumstances, therefore, the Government
:;_t Jl;?t_fﬁed.m attempting to secure for Great Britain a reasonable amount
o political m-ﬁ.uencg over those countries of Central Africa, not claimed by
sermany, Portugal, or the Congo Free State. The form of Treaty that was
[,?6‘:'? Up was not, however, altered, as it was not intended to proclaim any ’
]‘l'::}‘:;ztﬁ» if more indxructmea.ns of political supremacy coul‘cf’ be atta}n ' g
had been drg\f:"ihilﬂ.begtated that the attention ol: Her Majesty’s quemment-.
be commagd iR SRR B L3S0 80 (e imposing expecition which was iDL Sngs
Explagaiit RS Tiio (8 Fougucss Pambesia. il
owic M_w]‘:ng@: asked for in Lisbon as to its eventual destination,
in the Zémes of August 22nd, 1883:’I which it - 3
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" the debatable ground of the Shire Highlands, Consequently, as
~ claim to Zumbo and to the Lower Luangwa had not been contested
 indeed their claims anywhere where occupation or poht:cal supremacy co

~ the Stork came to anchor, and we continued our journey in g flc

. Minister for Foreign Affairs assured Her
¢ Pinto would merely proceed to th ‘
. Upper Zambezi and on the Luangwa River, angd

shown—it was thought that if the Portugugse did not attempt to ir
rule on any new langs where our interests m?;ht be affected, no Sﬁch_ T€ I
as the establishment of a Protectorate on our part should be undertaken until
negotiations with Germany and Portugal had, more or less precisdz}f.- ed
the limits of our political influence. e U

I started for Mogambique in the early summer of 1889. On my arrival
at that place the Foreign Office, at my request, appointed Mr. W. A -Chﬁ_f'ﬁflf'll,‘
Vice-Consul, so that I might be free to start on my journey to the interior
without leaving Consular matters unattended to. Soon after I reache
Mocambique there arrived H.M.S. Stork, a surveying vessel commanded
by Licut.-Commander Balfour, RN. The Stork had just returned from Chinde,
where it had been sent to verify Mr. Rankin's discoveries. The Commander
informed me that in his steam-launch he had passed up into the Zambezi, and
had found the channel all the way deep enough for even the Szor£ herself, and
the Stork was a vessel drawing 13} feet. I felt that it would be good policy to
show that 1 had reached these regions of the interior, without nece:
landing on Portuguese territory, so I obtained permission from the Governme:
to use the Stork for the conveyance of my expedition. At the same time the
authorities at Mocambique were made fully aware of the purposes I intended to
fulfil, namely the negotiation of a peace with the Arabs and the conclusion of
treaties of friendship with the local chiefs, who were not under Portuguese juris-
diction. The Governor asked me pointedly if I intended to pr it
Protectorate, and 1 told him I was authorised to do nothing of th d, so long
as Major Serpa Pinto or other Portuguese explorers took no political action
outside Portuguese territory. No difficulty whatever was placed in my way by ~
the Portuguese, whethér or not they approved of my cxpecﬂtion. I think parti-
cular stress should be laid on this fact, as had Portugal been animated by really
hqstilc intentions to Great Britain, there were a hundred pretexts by which they
might have stopped my journey. So little need was there to preserve any
mystery about my operations, that instead of proceeding direct to Chinde,
I called in with the Stork at Quelimane, and there visited the Por '
officials, and communicated with the African Lakes Company. Th
crossed the bar of the Chinde mouth without difficulty, on the 28tl
1889, and stecamed up the Chinde River into the main Zam
un_lxl;und;:ti astonishment of such few inhabitants as were on the ban
neither they nor any o ; s e
pifors, A shortdistance sbave he conacns e

As e é uence of the Chinde with the mai

launches and boats, by which means we finally came up wi
Lakes Company's steamer, the James Stevenson, near Morambala, a
‘mountain which is situated some twenty miles up the Shire River
tion consisted of Mr. ]. L. Nicoll, formerly of the Lakes Con
whom 1 had engaged at Quelimane as an assistant - Alj Kion
headman, who had accompanied me on my journey to Kilimar

! Now Consul at Mogambique,

t
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had re-engaged at Zanzibar in_ {889; and ﬁftqcn Mak}la, enga.gec! with the con-
<ent of the Portuguese authorities at Mogambique. The James Stevenson was a
river steamer of abou!: forty tons bu_rdc:n, worked by a stern wheel, and with
fairly comfortable cabin accommodation, and an upper deck. In this steamer
we pursued our course up the river, until we reached Serpa Pinto’s camp.
which was a little distance below the confluence of the Ruo and the Shire. |
had been startled, on reaching Quelimane, to learn from the Portuguese officials
there, that Major Serpa Pinto, after journeying to Sena on the Lower Zambezi
with his expedition, had suddenly, and abruptly, deflected his course northwards
to the Shire, and was apparently making for the Makololo country, and the
Shire Highlands. Major Serpa Pinto had been
apprised of my coming, and when the James
Stevenson drew near he dispatched an officer and
a boat, so that I might land and see him. I found
Serpa Pinto surrounded by a staff of white officers,
and was informed that he had with him over seven
hundred Zulu soldiers.!

The Major received me in a little hut, and after
insisting on my sharing his afternoon tea, we began
to discuss the political situation, He informed me
that he sought my intervention with the Makololo
people, to persuade them to allow him to pass un-
hindered through their country, as he was on his
way to Liake Nyasa in charge of a Scientific Expedi-
tion. “We go" he said, “to visit that Portuguese
subject, Mponda, at the south end of Lake Nyasa.”*
| replied to Major Serpa Pinto, “ If you are only in
charge of a Scientific Expedition, you need, at most,
an escort of fifty soldiers ; but the Makololo are sure
to view your journey with distrust if you attempt to
bring so large an armed force into the country;
moreover, your Government has distinctly assured
us that the object of your mission was the Upper
Zambezi, and not the Shire, Consequently, if you
mk"f’-“}' political action north of the Ruo, which we
consider, provisionally, to be the Portuguese limit,
you will oblige me, ‘on my part, to go beyond my
:m?llx}te mstructions and effectively protect the _ ,
the ssts of Her Majesty's Government. If you merely wish to pass through

« ¢ country for scientific purposes we will travel together, and I will do my
"o persuade the Makololo to offer no opposition.”

of 1‘111:'?{1:-”‘ Serpa Pinto did not give any very definite reply to these rcsfmrk.-:

to “!.;L-m-n:nerely reiterating his hope that I ‘would prevail on the Makololo

-1 o opposition to his passage ; otherwise he would be obliged to fight

SERGT.-MAJOR ALTI KIONGWE

them,

! proceeded on my way in the James Stevenson, and soon afterwards

! X Hanysaf th . . " o

GO | oy o ese men were inbabitants of Gazaland and Inyambane, but a few of them were
%<y Zulus, who'had been recruited in Swaziland and in the vicinity of Delagoa Bay.

Explirer .:L; aware that the Portuguese had endeavoured by means of Senor Cardozo, the only Portuguese

A L date reiched the shores of Lake Nynsa, to conclude a treaty with Mponca,

it W : :
'iigm:»i e Lum“m"""’“’!dgt that although he had received the Mission in @ friendly way, he had rot

e treaty, < T =
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‘the junction of the Ruo and the Shire, ar
iromo, on the north bank of the river Ruo. ere
ive village, under two yofing chiefs, Mbengwa and
the Chipatula who had been killed by Fenwick. There
" trading station at Chiromo, belonging "to two young :
~ hunters, named Pettitt. Whilst the steamer stopped at Chi
the two chiefs, and explained to them sthat they were not
aggressive action against the Portuguese, even if the latter
Ruo in force. In such a case as this they were to inform
Consul at Blantyre. From Chiromo we passed on up the Rives
through the Elephant Marsh, but as we approached nearer to the Makololo
settlements beyond the Elephant Marsh, the captain of the James Stevenson
became greatly perturbed as to the attitude which might be observed by the
powerful Makololo chief, Mlauri. Mlauri was no more friendly at that time
* to the English than to the Portuguese. Towards the English he had be
very aggressive on account of his not having been recognised as supreme
chief of the Makololo. He had several times tried to get hold of the two
young chiefs of Chiromo, in order that he might kill them, and was furious
with the Pettitts and with a Mr. Simpson, an engineer in the dervice of the
Lakes Company, for having intervened to protect them. Mlauri in those
- days occupied a strong position at Mbewe, a place some little distance
below Katunga, the termination of river navigation on the Lower Sﬁre‘ _
The set of the current compelled all steamers to pass close under the cliff
of Mbewe, and they were therefore completely at the mercy of Mlauri's guns,
and Mlauri was frequently in the habit of firing at the steamers to compel
them to stop, and either give him a present or await his good pleasure in

Y e M i

- other respects. He had been the leading spirit in the sinking of the Zady
Nyasa at the time of the disturbance following the death of Chipatula, and

~ mot having been punished for this his tyrannical obstructions to river navigal
~ were becoming unbearable. ity

©As we neared Mbewe, we saw the banks lined with armed men.

ccaptain of the James Stevenson at first determined to steam by
speed, but the natives shouted from the banks that if we did not
come to an anchor they would fire on us, 1 therefore advised t
to anchor his vessel at Mbewe, and determined to go on shore
Mlauri, with the double object of protesting against his beha
the British steamers, and cautioning him about falling out with
The Rev. Alexander Hetherwick, of the Church of Scotland
fellow traveller with me on board the James Stevenson, an
_of my intention to see Mlauri, he kindly volunteered his services
In those days 1 could speak nothing but Swahili, and alth
might be partially understood by Mlauri, it was preferabl
to him in his own language—Chi-nyanja. ' g
We landed amongst a jeering crowd of warriors, ar

~ were rather inclined to hustle us, but eventually we
‘misadventure to the presence of Mlauri, who was seatec
a chair, with a gaudy blanket wrapped round
chimney-pot hat on his head. He-m'-su'rm&é@_ﬁy
5

d headmen, and directed us to be
laced opposwt; to him, ev
R iy
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1 “n‘
| :iaglz-.'crely rated Mlauri in S.vga‘hili that whether he understood the drift of
" v words or not, he was convinced 1 was extremely angry, and being—like

most of these negro chiefs—a coward as well as a bully, he became quite
apologetic. When fresh and more secure seats had been brought for us 1
explained to him—through Mr. Hetherwick—firstly, that these attempts to
| obstruct the navigation of the Shire would get him into trouble with Her
Majesty’s Government, and, secondly, that he had better not attempt to fight
the Portuguese if they forced their way through his country, but should leave
this matter to be decided between the two Governments. ‘*Mlauri replied,
discursively, giving as his reason for annoying the steamers that he was not
allowed to seize Chipatula’s two sons, and that the English would not recognise
him as paramount chief of the Makololo. Also that he felt convinced that
. we were in league with the Portuguese, and that all white men were equally

T T T T TR ST
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.« of derisive laughter from the natives. After this I lost my temper, and

bad, He would, therefore, fight Major Serpa Pinto, unless the latter broke

' up his camp and retired to the Zambezi.

I reiterated my advice to him, not'to pursue such a course, and then
returned to the steamer, which was allowed to leave without further opposition
on the part of the natives. We soon reached Katunga’s, which in some sense
is the port of Blantyre, that place being about twenty-five miles distant over
the hills. At Katunga I was met by Mr. John Buchanan, the Acting Consul ;
by the Rev. D. C. Scott, of the Church of Scotland Mission; Mr. John Moir,
the Manager of the Lakes Company ; and by a trader whom I will call Mr. S,
who was a British subject of German
origin. I explained to these gentle-
men the end that I had in view,
namely, to secure treaties of friendship
with the Makololo and Yao chiefs, but
not to declare a British Protectorate
if possible, unless the Portuguese
forced my hand, for 1 considered it
better to leave the ultimate decision as
to a Protectorate with Her Majesty’s
Government, who would probably wait
till they had first negotiated a settle-
ment of boundaries with the Portu-
guese. Mr. Buchanan and Mr. Moir
were delighted at the idea of the
treaties of friendship, but a violent

+ OPPosition was declared thereto by
M. S, the trader, an opposition which,

At the time, 1 was totally unable to

:;1(1’“]:]:1:;&21';{1, but which was made clear MR, JOHN HUCHANAN

v by e Sy

(“chicis, by which they we

not, “P.t’{}. sl
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_to him their sovereign rights. He had
~in inducing them to do so, but he was
] s

- a Chartered

. attempted to conclude treaties with the native

It is not very clear
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If his:_.-ad-o ion, and Gefruany ¢ land q‘f_ﬁisr-bnrth._ i _' I. do
ge’ﬁﬁeman's nnlr:mte in full, because, wm.ﬂm British Pmteeford.m was
~ declared, he accepted it_ioyally.adl only 1§qe;ti_pntithe inctdent here beca
it was one which rather precipitated our political action. SIS U
B WRS ?r!;eat‘; al:f friendshli)p wgs concluded by Mr. Buchanan abl{atunﬂ_ mth_,_
~all the Makololo chiefs except Mlauri. Subsequently, when Mlauri had

received his first defeat at the hands of the Portuguese, he mad -a:-..iq_'mty- "
with Mr. Buchanan. i o 4
al%}\dr. Moir, the manager of the Lakes Company, had mv:ted_ me to bu his
guest at Mandala, near Blantyre, and had brought down a horse for me to..
ride. In those days there were only two horses in British Central Africa;
one of these was ill, and the other fent to me was rather an unmanageable
beast. It had evidently been bored by the long delay in treaty-making at
Katunga, and was desperately anxious to return to the pleasanter climate of
Blantyre, so that when 1 mounted at Katunga station, it instantly bolted,
nearly beheading me in the low gateway which formed the entrance to_‘_;_the
station.  Its frantic gallop was checked at the ascent to the hills, and I regained
command over it ; but soon afterwards the rotten leather bridle came to pieces,
and before 1 could clutch at the two ends they had fallen to the ground, the
horse had put his foot on them, snapping them off, and there I was on his
back, without any means of controlling him. He realised the situation, and
once more raced along the narrow path. 1 did not fall off, but ente :
Blantyre more like Mazeppa than a well-conducted British official. In
passing through the various archways and tunnels covered with very thorny
roses, which diversified the garden approach to Mr. Moir's house, I could
only save myself from serious damage by lying as flat as possible on the
horse's back, with my arms round his neck. He made straight for his stable,
and at the fortunately closed door came to a dead stop. I rolled off his back,
bleeding and bruised, and have always regarded that first ride from Katunga to
Blantyre as the greatest risk I ever ran in British Central Africa. T
At Blantyre treaties were concluded with the Yao chiefs; and I organised,
with the help of Mr. John Moir, my expedition to the north end of Lake
Nyasa. Before leaving for the lake, I made arrangements with Mr. John
Buchanan as to the course which should be pursued if the Portuguese attempted
to take forcible possession of the Shire Highlands. In such an event as this,
il the Portuguese crossed the Ruo in force and gave any evidence of an inten-
tion to occupy the country politically, Mr. Buchanan was to proclaim a B:
Protectorate over the Shire province, between Lake Chilwa and the
Mountains of Angoniland, the River Ruo and Zomba Mountain. This
however, was not to be taken and Her Majesty’s Government was not
pledged to a Protectorate over the Shire Highlands, unless there was
option between such a proceeding and passively admitting the Portugt
conquest of the country)
_ Subsequent to my departure the following events took plaee.
Pinto advanced northwards, along the west bank of the Shire, and was
by the Makololo * under Mlauri. Mlauri excused himself for this ac
wards by complaining that the Portuguese on the east bank of the

! The Protectorate was proclaimed September 21, 1889, after the news of the

the Portuguese and the Makololo (at Mpatsa, just 2]
then trying to pacify the Makolaln.{ patss, just below the Ruo) had reached =
¥ November 8, 1880,
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L]
been the agaressors, and had raided some of his villages. His attack, however,
was completely repulsed by the Ifortugu_cse, who inflicted upon him a very
sanguinary defeat.®* Up to this point Major Serpa Pinto had not crossed the
h\;h.tin:1ical boundary of English and Portuguese interests, which had been
once or twice mentioned to be the River Ruo, and a line—more or less paraliel
with the confluence of the Ruo—drawn westward across the Shire. So far as |
am aware Major Serpa Pinto never crossed this line, but when brought face to
face with the question of doing so, and thereby bringing the Portuguese
Government into almost open conflict with the British, he left the expedition

MASEA AND MWITU, TWO OF LIVINGSTONE'S MAKOLOLO b

:““Et‘-l‘ the charge of Lieut. Coutinho, and proceeded to Mogambique for further
’{]f‘-md]ons'l In his absence, however, Lieut. Coutinho, whose attitude towards
Major Serpa Pinto may be described in Lady Macbeth'’s lines—

“Infirm of purpose ! Give me the dagger!”

'esolved to conquer the Shire province, and meet English remonstrances with
o/t accompli,  Hitherto all the other Makololo chiefs had followed my advice,
'“‘ had not joined Mlauri in attacking the Portuguese. Mlauri’s action was
"I'I"L}“ isolated, but Lieut. Coutinho had established a camp on the other side
. the River Ruo, facing Chiromo. The two young Chiromo chiefs were careful
V€. 1m0 cause of offence to Lieut. Coutinho, who suddenly crossed the Ruo
;'{,{_‘I.“ffzed Chiromo, The Makololo withdrew before him, and he destroyed

* village and erected very strong fortifications on the small spit of land,

! Arriving there December 25, 1880,
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which is a peninsula, with the Shire on the one side and the R"‘} the
other.! : AU
The Portuguese forces then marched up both banks of the Shire, driving
Milauri before them. Prior to his first defeat at the hands of the Portuguese
Mlauri had concluded a treaty with Mr, Buchanan, but as the latter had
forbidden him to fight with the Portuguese, he was not encouraged, after his
defeat, to take refuge at Blantyre, whither all the other Makololo chiefs
proceeded. The Portuguese forces advanced as far as Katunga, and were
making preparations to occupy Blantyre, when the English Ultimatum to
Portugal brought matters to a standstill. I have always believed that the
Portuguese Government in Lisbon neither sanctioned nor approved this forcible
entry into the district in dispute between England and Portugal, and that they
even transmitted instructions to Major Serpa Pinto and others not to cross the
Ruo, if by so doing any conflict was likely to arise with British interests; but
that their representative at Mogambique desired a bolder policy and acted far
beyond his instructions, and even in defiance of them: for at the time when the
Portuguese Government in Lisbon had assured Lord Salisbury that Major
Serpa Pinto had left for Mogambique, and that the expedition would proceed
no farther in the direction of the Shire Highlands, the Portuguese Governor-
General at Mocambique issued an official gazette announcing that the Shire
province had been annexed to the Portuguese dominions, and appointed Lieut.
Coutinho “Governor of the Shire.” These acts were annulled by the Portuguese
Government after they were brought to their knowledge by the Ultimatum, and
the Portuguese forces were withdrawn to the Portuguese side of the Ruo,
though they continued to exercise a strict control over the Shire navigation,
frequently stopping the British steamers and boats, At the same time, I think
it is only right, in historical justice to Portugal, to make it clear that although
this struggle for the possession of Nyasaland was a sufficiently acute question
to the Portuguese, and one in which they were passionately interested, no such
struggle for priority of rights was conducted with more fairness and even
chivalry.  For instance, had Major Serpa Pinto been an unscrupulous man he
would have, on some pretext or another, stopped my small expedition, and
whilst detaining me on this pretext, have marched ahead and arbitrarily seized
the country, before anything could be done to preserve British interests,  Again,
even after the, Portuguese had advanced as far as Katunga, and occupied both
banks of the Shire river, between that place and Chiromo, they placed no
obstacle in the way of my return. On the contrary, the following incident
(':c_c‘:urrccl between myself and Lieut. Coutinho, who had been appointed
o o e S Ve i dovs e on st o
I’m"tl.lg'.I-t;!'n‘t:r qL-l'::cqtl.l “]‘i:”’"-.f-ll}l)‘ﬁ 5 ? -Gt AhE CARE into the ba'nk hya
: uese sergeant. 1 was, at first, annoyed at what seemed to be an attempt
O arrest my progress towards the coast, but fortunately, before 1 could give
expression to my angry sentiments, Lieut. Coutinho had met me on the bank,
and, raising his hat, said, “ I have taken the liberty of stoppi tha
might not miss vour mail-bags whi Y o SIORPIRG YL tha
S8 ) ail-bags which are here awaiting you. ~As you have

! Chiromo means “'a big lip,” from the wo ; AL |
e At S o 1P, rd -romo, or ‘] ich i Bantu 1
l‘l'I:I.tIijﬁp'“ a l‘lp(-:] : The"cin. or ki- prefix in Chi-n janja ha; the c;!v:‘c':‘ ::‘_halgh‘::&mso-m u
i Chiromo" means “‘a big lip." This chi- prefix, whi o o
language 1}u: effect of a diminutive, consequently ** Silomo " ‘:li:ChZ:;:mnmnumem'. in z‘ﬂ“‘
member of Parlinment by the Swazi Envoys, means * a little ﬁp  but is otherws given to

e ; ) el :
mr}::::l t;,:fl Lth:s place in British Central Africa, for a year such a hone of contention
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long and . A : ;
;rmisionﬁ, I have taken the liberty of making up this small supply for your
use on your way'to Quelimane.” Therewith he handed into the boat two
hampers, which contained not only a supply of champagne and other wines,
but all sorts of little luxuries very grateful to the jaded palate of a travel-weary
man. Then, giving me a letter to ensure my not being stopped on my way to

(Quelimane, he bade me farewell. ¥pon my expressing my thanks very warmly,

uous jour.ney.-.in the interior, and are also, I hear, shm'tof

he said, “ We are both doing pur best for our respective countries, and however

much our political views may differ that is no reason why one white man should
quarrel with another in Central Africa.” This was indeed the "keynote of the
Portuguese demeanour towards me, then and thenceforth, and I feel it only just
to place these facts on record, for 1 have been often vexed at the unjust
aspersions which have been cast upon the Portuguese in the British Press.

On my way up the Shire to Blantyre I had encountered Mr. Alfred
Sharpe, who was travelling up the river in his own boat. Knowing that a great
deal of ground would have to be covered in treaty-making, and that [ should be
unable to reach all parts of British Central Africa myself, I desired to engage
some one who might suitably represent me in such portions of this territory
as lay outside my line of route, especially in Central Zambezia and the countries
between Nyasaland and the Barutse. The latter country had been placed under
the British flag by Mr. Rhodes’s agents acting for the Chartered Company.

I had heard much of Mr. Alfred Sharpe from persons acquainted with

Nyasaland. He had taken a leading part in the war between the Arabs
and the Lakes Company, in which war he had been wounded. Mr. Sharpe,
who had been trained for the law, had held a Colonial appointment in Fiji for
some years, but when this appointment, in common with many others, was
abolished at a time when the state of Fiji finances compelled severe retrench-
ments, he had been offered a District Commissionership on the Gold Coast.
For a time, however, he preferred to travel and hunt in Central Africa. In
18g0 Mr. Sharpe accepted employment under the British South Africa
Lompany, in whose service he remained about a year, securing for them many
important concessions north of the: Zambezi. Early in 1891 he was appointed
I-LM.‘ Vice-Consul in British Central Africa! It had been arranged between
Mr. Sharpe and myself, before 1 quitted Blantyre for the north, that he should
proceed due westward to beyond the Portuguese dominions at Zumbo, and
secure to the British the Central Zambezi, and that afterwards he should make
treaties along the Luangwa River and, northwards, to Lake Mweru and Lake
langanyika, All this he successfully accomplished. After passing into the
ervice of the British South Africa’ Company he made an expedition to
]“1“"18:’11. but did not succeed in making a treaty, as the chief, Msiri, though
;"_Yl'mssmg a desire to remain on friendly terms with all white men, refused to
'ccome subservient to any particular European Nation. Subsequently Msiri
f‘f"‘]“"l}“ refused to make a treaty with Captain Stair's expedition, which repre-
et-}um-d the_ (_Zo_nid Free State, and having assumed a hostile demeanour towards
e expedition he was shot by the late Captain Bodson, who himself was killed

‘nmcdiately afterwards by Msiri's followers. His country was afterwards

“1iexed 10 the Congo Free States
'(\‘&:u I . e ,1891‘5‘. stranger to the country of I\nmngn, being merely
ed rabble of Wanyamwezi freebooters and coast Arabs

hn!tl:. hy the le " outl : 7 tﬁ_g

He persistent slave raider and was :
Belgian authorities after Mairis death, !
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i b&wmjﬂé h Thomson in 1890 came out with Mr. J. A.
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t outh Africa Company, and supplemented M;i‘ ?}fhﬁgpe'ﬁ L

_securing further treaties and concessions in the central Legl ] rtionl.ih’sn"f" B
. Africa, but the main credit of having secured all t lsmPoM SO' ot

 dependency to the British Flag e_mphatlcally lies wit ﬁa harpql pe, who

traversed the country with a following scarcely exceeding fifteen to twenty

[ Ve u, and, by the weight of his personal influence only, secured tblesls(e_,cmli:xdtnci
¥ 1o British interests, besides adding a great deal to our geomp];}ca ngl?_' ge.

In my journey from Blantyre to Lake Nyasa along the . pper hl:;:‘m}'
progress was Beset with great difficulties owing to the civil war which was
raging between the Yao chiefs, Mponda and Msamara. sy

My assistant, Mr. Nicoll, took charge of that portion of the expedition
which travelled by water, whilst 1 marched overland. As. we 11earet.i the south
end of the lake we were stopped by Msamara's forces in the belief that we
were about to render assistance to Mponda. 1 managed, however, to pacify
Msamara by making a treaty of friendship with him, and months afterwards I
succeeded in patching up a peace between him and Mponda.

Mponda’s reception of us was rather doubtful. He denied having concluded
any treaty with the Portuguese, but was averse to concluding even a treaty
of friendship with Great Britain, at any rate without the sanction of the Sultan
of Zanzibars representative on the lake—the Jumbe at Kotakota. ~Mponda
was a very repellent type of Yao robber, alternately cringing and _msol\_ent.
Had not the Universities Mission steamer arrived by good chance to give me a

assage to Likoma (where I was to see Bishop Smythies) 1 might have
r):en robbed and murdered by Mponda, As it was my retreat to the Mission
steamer was very like a flight. However, I got away safely with all my goo:
and proceeded to the Island of Likoma. My object in seeing Bishop Smythies
was to obtain the use of the Charles Janson for a period, in order to enable me
to bring about peace with the Arabs. At that time the Lakes Company had
only one steamer plying on the lake, the little //ala—which besides beg
much out of repair, was too small for the conveyance of even my limite
expedition.  The Bishop was good enough to place his steamer at my dtspc?sal. _
for though the Universitics Mission then and always declared its intention
of remaining absolutely neutral in political matters, they were anxious to do
all in their power to assist me to bring about peace between the Lakes
Company and the Arabs. g

We then crossed to Bandawe on the west side of the lake. From this place
Mr. Nicoll proceeded direct to Karonga in the //ala, bearing letters from me to
the North Nyasa Arabs. I remained some days at Bandawe, concluding
treaties with the Atonga chiefs. Then the Charles Janson called in and took
down to a point fifteen miles distant from Jumbe's capital at Kotakota,
its commander landed my expedition on the lake shore. His reasons ]
proceeding to Kotakota arose from two considerations. One was that Ju
after all, was an Arab and might make common cause with the

Arabs and seize the steamer. The second was that at that time the 1
at Kotakota was unsurveyed and was not thought to be safe for
of considerable dranght. "1 must admit that 1 landed. with Ali Kio

! The late Mr. Joseph Thomson's claims to fame and to ou i \Té S0 I

{g I't:o him to fs;éa:: a few ll:.;::ilr Ieav;s to Mr. Sharpe. Thcrug;l;m\feﬁi?ﬁlkg '
» Emperar of atu on of the Royal Niger ; at
British r:t:;em never to be forgotten, TR S alumrs
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headman, and my small expedition of fifteen Makua in some considerable

trepidation.  The Lakes Company half feared that Jumbe was going to join

the Arab movement at the north end. At this time, too, all Arabs in Central
Africa were much incensed against Europeans by their quarrels with the
Germans and the Belgians. The way in which they would receive me, there-
fore, was very doubtful. Makanjira on the opposite coast had recently stripped
and flogged a British Consul and held him up to ransom, and no measures had
heen taken to avenge this insult. After landing near the mouth of the Bua
river 1 sent Ali Kiongwe ahead to interview Jumbe and to deliver to him the
letters that I had brought from the Sultan of Zanzibar. On m$ journey down
the east coast of Africa I had stopped at Zanzibar, and had conferred with the
Jate Sir Gerald Portal, then Acting Consul-General at that place, on the subject

She Nl St g 1 e
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OUTSKIRTS OF KOTAKOTA

of my mission to Lake Nyasa. Mr. Portal (as he then was) had interested
himself very much in this undertaking to make peace with the Arabs, and
urged the Sultan Khalifa bin Said (whose own envoy previously dispatched
had been unsuccessful in bringing the Arabs to reason) to proyide me with
the most authoritative letters to his representatives on Lake Nyasa, notably to
the Jumbe of Kotakota, who was the Sultan’s ostensible wa/z, or representative.
The Sultan Khalifa willingly gave these letters, which were most potent in
cliecting the subsequent results.

Some hours after Ali Kiongwe had started for Kotakota, a Swahili soldier
of Jumbe’s came rushing down into our camp, dropped on one knee and seized
me by the leg, as an act of homage. He then said, * Master, do not be alarmed,
Jumbe sends us to greet the representative of the great Queen and of the

Sayvid of Zanzibar, and he has told us to fire a salute of guns in your honour.” .

b_“h‘ iy afterwards a tremendous fusilade commenced, much to the alarm of my
il:;-tttr?' r“'hﬂ_had not understood the purport of Jumbe's message. We then
iumgt- o kut_a!cuta, Jumbe’s men insisting on carrying me in a machilla.!
and o Vas waiting to receive me as I entered the town. A large house

* “ompound was set aside for my use. Oxen were killed for myself and
lum;ruﬁlgi,hrl.lg:}?r:l m';?:‘e P&w:m egf:;;;g:‘!t_e\r?ich is universally applied in Eastern Africa toa
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my n_ie'n,.'an_d quantities of provisions of all kinds were sent inﬁr ffpur

sustenance.  After a day's rest 1 had a long conversation with Jumbe, to

whom [ exposed frankly the whole political situation. *As soon as I had
quitted the pg‘l,ﬁre River> I had felt free to take open political action, as
after my stay in Lisbon there had been a tacit understanding betw'een
the Portuguese and ourselves that although the Shire province and a portion
of the east coast of Lake Nyasa were tersitories not to be seized by either
Power without arrangement, the west coast of Lake Nyasa was admitted|y
open to British enterprise. 1 thereforc
advised Jumbe, who was now practi-
cally recognised by the Sultan of
Zanzibar as an independent Prince,
to place his country under British
protection, and to mobilise a sufficient
number of his men to compel the
North Nyasa Arabs to agree to make
terms of peace; and in the event of
their not so agreeing to place this
force at my disposal for their coercion.
Jumbe, in return for all these services,
was to receive a subsidy of £200 per
annum. The slave trade was to be
declared at an end in his dominions.
After one day’s deliberation with his
head men, Jumbe assented to my
propositions. Treaties and agreements
were signed, the British flag was
hoisted, and the first portion of British
Central Africa was secured. I should
then have been picked up by the
llala and conveyed to the north, but
unfortunately the //ala, unknown to
me, had been wrecked in a storm,
and she did not resume her voyages
on the lake for several years after-
wards. Meantime [ waited on and
on at Jumbe's, treated by that chiel
with unwearied hospitality, though 1
used up almost all his stock of candles,
and consumed all his supplies of tinned

THE LATE TAWAKALL $UDI fruits. The only thing I could Dﬁ&l‘
JUMBE OF KOTAKOTA, WALL OF ILH, THE SULTAN OF him in return for all his hospjm
EANZINAK ON LAKE NVASA was a bottle of y’e”OW Chartreuse.

_ Jumbe was a very strict Muhammadan,
especially on the subject of alcohol, but he suffered much from asthma. He
appealed to me repeatedly for medicine, and as I had no drugs with me
was in despair, until it occurred to me that a small glass of Chartreuse
at any rate distract his thoughts if it did not remedy the asthma. 1
him a taste of what he called *the golden water.” He at or '
- hm}sclf cured, and the least | could do was to hand him the en
which he spent, 1 believe, several months in consuming. It
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he told me afterwards, that he felt obliged to deny to his head wife,
lady Siena.”

\t last my detention was becoming a little tedious, and I was very anxious
'+ the missing steamer. To soothe my anxiety, Jumbe sent for his
who was to ascertain, by means of “raml” (sand), what the

thing,
‘the

about
pecromancer,

NORTH XNYASA ARARS: BWANA "OMAEI IN THE FOREGROUND

I Tiecl e

”;\”“I{:L”r‘; futuse had in store for me as regards steamer communication.

aground ml"n:l}rlicer informed us that tl?c small steamer (the /lala) had run

This inform e rocks, but the “ Bishop's steamer ”* would shortly call for me.

eCromag ation turned out to be perfectly correct, and no doubt the
ancer had other sources of knowledge than those which were occult.

. It the "' hibi mkubwa. " (¢ -
' Tha v bwa,” (‘' great ludy ") as she was commonly called.
Heame, » Charles Janson wsed 1o, be au.i.,«; called by the Arabs, * Istima-al-Askaf,” the **Bishop's

J
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‘on board, came to fetch me and convey me to Karonga.

His news was trite, for event'ual'_ly the Charles Janson, wgﬂrf:hdeaco Maples
y R o |
I found on arrival here that Mr. Nicoll had concluded in my ﬂa.m&:):ﬂ

truce with the Arabs, and that the ground was prepared for negotiation

I may briefly relate that as the Arabs were very distrustful, I arranged to
meet them in the bush midway between their nearest stockade and Karonga,
stipulating that they should only be accompanied by a small escort, and ithat
I would only bring with me the same number of men. 1 was accompanied
by Mr. Nicoll, Mr. Monteith Fotheringham, and a few armed Atonga. 0zi,
Kopakopa, Bwana 'Omari, Msalemu, and other Arabs, duly met me at, the
point agreed upon. After a brief discussion I read out to them the terms of
the treaty which I proposed, and told them that if they refused it we should
prosecute the war to the bitter end until not one of them was left in!the
country. They accepted these terms almost without deliberation and }the
treaty was forthwith signed, and peace was declared. "

A bull was killed as a sacrifice, and the flesh was distributed amongst ou
men and the men who had accompanied the Arabs. On the following day
the British flag was run up at Karonga, and the native chiefs from the
surrounding districts came in and signed treaties, accepting British protection.
On the following day the Arabs paid us a return visit at Karonga, signegd
treaties of protection and accepted the British flag. Mr. Crawshay? :
arrived from Deep Bay with a large number of Wahenga chiefs in canog
who signed treaties of protection. Thus protection treaties had now been
concluded between Jumbe's territory on the south-west of Lake Nyasa, and
the extreme north-east corner of the lake. A

I was at this time much exercised about the want of a secure harbour at the
north end of Lake Nyasa. Karonga was an open roadstead, most dangerous
for landing, for it must always be remembered that Lake Nyasa is as rough:
at times as the British Channel, with heavy breakers on unprotected shores,
The existence of a secure harbour in Kambwe lagoon, 34 miles to' the north
of Karonga, had not then been made known, or it may be that owing to

" various circumstances it did not then exist as a harbour which vessels of

I accordingly” bought the land for them, and placed an agent: there to ;

gﬁeme northeenimost comner of the lake, for the, Africant Lakes Compargii
‘and. occupy. Subsequently, however, by the Anglo-German Agreement of

considerable draught could enter. After examining carefully the north coast
of Lake Nyasa, 1 decided to secure the harbour of Parumbira, at the; Y

e

1890, the boundary between the two Furopean Powers was drawn at the
River Songwe, and Parumbira fell to Germany. It is now the headquarters
of the German Government, on Lake Nyasa, and has been rcchnst@ﬁa‘
Langenburg, : :

Only one-week was occupied at Karonga in making peace with the Agabs;
securing North Nyasa by treaty ; choosing this harbour for the African 1z
Company ; and arranging my caravan for Lake Tanganyika.. But the

\ J
! My, Crawshay, originally 4 lieutenant in the Inniskilling Dragoons, had come out to
Africa to shoot big game, and had joined the Lakes Company’s forces as a volunteer in
the Arabs.  Aiter Captain Lugard had captured Dcerp Bay, an important harbour on
of Lake Nyasa, used by the Arabs as the end of a ferry to the east side of the Lak
some months garrisoned this place as a fort, and kept the Ambs out of Deey \
considerable influence amongst the Wahcn&n, and was of much service to
Protectorate.  Until quite recently he was Viee:Consul for the north of Lake
appointment on account of ill-health, ) E o L g
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why itgwas possible to dispatch such a mass of important business in seven
days, was that 1 was most ably seconded by Mr. J. L. Nicoll. My having
«ccured this gentleman at Quelimane as my second in command really did
more than anything else to secure the complete success to my mission. We
started for Tanganyika on .the 10th of November, 188g. To obtain as
much territory for England as possible | journeyed at first in a northerly
direction, and penetrated as far to the north-east as the southern shores
of Lake Rukwa, a salt lake of considerable size, Mr. Nicoll, Dr. Kerr Cross
who had joined us) and myself, were  the first Europeans to discover
the southern end of this lake. The country all round Rukwa, however, was
so desolate and inhabited by such a reprehensible set of slave raiders, that
I concluded no treaties with them, and was thankful to get my expedition
out of their clutches  without loss of goods or lives. Returning to the
beautiful Nyasa-Tanganyika plateau, we found ourselves again among people

LANGENHURG, CAPITAL OF GERMAN NYASALAND

who were warm friends of the British, and who everywhere concluded treaties
with expressions of positive enthusiasm. The A-mambwe, especially, had come

-

b
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to look upon the British as their champions against the Arab slave tradens, .

and were almost frantic in their expressions of friendship. * Nevertheles
the A-mambwe were very quarrelsome amongst themselves, and when

reached the London Missionary Society's station at Fwambo, about thirty
miles from the south end of Lake Tanganyika, I found the Missionaries
were ina serious fix. In the first place they had been for more than a year
cut off from supplies and letters and were much delighted to get their mails

1

and such. supplies as I could bring them, but they were still more seriously

€ : ss‘ed?ge:ause two chiefs were fighting one another, and their servants
had “left them to join the respective sides to which they belonged. A
little good-humoured argument, however, secured peace between these rival
chieftains, who in turn concluded treaties with us; and I reached the south
end of Tanganyika with no further difficulty except occasional scares amongst
my porters catsed by the dread of Awemba raiders. At the south end of

;a was greeted by Mr. A. J. Swann, who was the master of the

- 5 i o, o AR
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« London Missionary Society’s steamer on that lake. Mr. Swann threw himself
- assisting me in my projects. Unfortunately the Mission'
| an .5 2 ; : /| -
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steamer was laid up for repairs, but Mr. Swann placed their saih’::l'g_@égt;;at
my disposal. By means of this boat I visited all the chiefs on the south end
of Lake Tanganyika, made treaties with them, and fugther penetrated to
the settlements of Kabunda, an Arab trader, who had almost constituted
himself a native chief. It was important in those days to conciliate
Kabunda, who had remained neutral in the war between the Arabs and
Lakes Company, and who had a great influence over the native Q{iefa ‘He
was really a Baluch in origin, not an Arab, and considered himself in some
respects a British subject. He entertained Mr. Swann and myself with the
greatest hospitality, and assisted us to enter into treaties with the chiefs of
Itawa, in the direction of Lake Mweru. This being the limit of the journey
which 1 had to perform (Mr. Sharpe was working for me to the west), |
decided to return at once to the Shire Highlands, as rumours had. reached
me of war with the Portuguese. It was a great disappointment for me to
turn back at this juncture, as | desired to go to the north end of Tanganyika
and secure for England the north end of that lake! but 1 felt it to be my
duty to get through to the coast and send a report of the work already done;
so I reluctantly postponed the completion of a scheme, which was, as |
hoped, to give us continuous communication between Cape Town and Cairo,
either over international waterwavs or along British territory. On my return
journey, in which no unpleasant incident occurred, 1 found Mponda, thé
Yao chief at the south end of Lake Nyasa, in a more reasonable frame of
mind, and concluded a treaty with him. I reached Mocambique at the end
of January, 1890, telegraphed the result of my work to the Foreign Office,
and subsequently proceeded to Zanzibar to make arrangements for the
conclusion of treaties at the north end of Tanganyika. Not being able to
return thither myself, as my health was failing, 1 entrusted the task to Mr.
A. J. Swann, and sent up to him an expedition under the leadership of my
invaluable Swahili headman, Ali-Kiongwe. Mr. Swann’s expedition was
entirely successful. - Treaties were made and the British flag was planted at
the extreme north end of Lake Tanganyika. Unfortunately, however, his
treaties arrived too late to be taken into consideration at the conclusion of the
Anglo-German Convention ; but Lord Salisbury managed to secure by that
Convention facilities for the crossing of German territory between Tanganyika
and Uganda, which will be very important to us in future developments.
In forwarding my report to the Foreign Office 1 proposed the term. * British
- Central Africa” for the territories just brought under British influence, Soon
after my return to England in the early summer of 18go the Anglo-Germa
Convention was signed, which, among other important gains to Great
. Britain, set a seal on the work which the British South Africa Compar
Sharpe, Nicoll, Swann, Fotheringham, Buchanan and [ had done. ,
followed by an abortive Convention with Portugal which, however, pr
be the basis of a definite understanding concluded with that Power i
In the spring of 4891 the British Protectorate over the countries
Lake Nyasa was proclaimed, and by the Conventions with Ger
Portugal, the remainder of British Central Africa was declared
exclusively British sphere of influence.
After the conclusion of the Anglo-German Convention Her Ma
ferred on Mr. John Buchanan a CM.G., and on myself a cB.
Churchill, who, during my absence in the interior, had done excell

! With land hunger Zagpetit vient en mangeant, 1%-
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2t Mocambique, when matters had been in a most critical state with Portugal,
wa- promoted to be Her Majesty'’s Vice-Consul ; Mr. Alfred Sharpe and Mr.
Alcxander Carnegie Ross! (who had been British Vice-Consul at Quelimane)
were equally made Commissioned Vice-Consuls; Mr. J. L. Nicoll (who had
remained a year at Tanganyika to strengthen the British position at the south
end of that lake) was given an important post in the Administration of the
new Protectorate ; Mr. John Buchanan, when he ceased to be Acting Consul,
was made a Vice-Consul; Mr. Crawshay, Mr. Swann, and Mr. Belcher (the
Commander of the Universities Mission steamer on lLake Nyasa)® all subse-
quently joined the Administration of the British Central Africa Protectorate.
Mr. Monteith Fotheringham, the agent of the Lakes Company at Karonga,
who had rendered me very great services, pteferred, however, to remain in the
employment of the African Lakes Company, as he was subsequently offered
the important post of manager at Mandala.

In the autumn of 18go Her Majesty's Government began to consider the
administration of these new territories. It was finally decided to confine the
actual Protectorate to the regions adjacent to Lake Nyasa and the River Shire,
and to administer that Protectorate directly by a Commissioner under the
Imperial Government, and further to place all the rest of the Sphere of
Influence, north of the Zambezi, under the Charter of the British South Africa
Company, subject of course to certain conditions. [ was appointed to be
Commissioner and Consul-General to administer the Protectorate, and was
chosen by the British South Africa Company as their Administrator north of
the Zambezi, an unpaid post which I held for nearly five years*

By an arrangement between the Chartered Company and Her Majesty’s
Government, the former contributed annually for a certain number of years
the sum of £10000 per annum, for the maintenance of a police force to be
used by me indifferently in the Protectorate and in the Company's Sphere.
The Company also met the cost of administering its own Sphere of Influence
north of the Zambezi, and further agreed to provide us, by arrangement with
the African Lakes Company, with the free nse of that Company’s boats and
steamers.!

On my return to British Central Africa as Commissioner and Consul-
General and Administrator for the British South Africa Company’s territories
to the north of the Zambezi, I appointed to my staff’ Lieut., now Captain, B. L.
Sclater, R.E. (who took with him three non-commissioned officers of the Royal
Lngineers) ; Mr. Alexander Whyte, ¥.zs. (as a practical Botanist and Natural
History' Collector) ; and, with the consent of the Indian Government, engaged

! Now H. M. Consul at Beira.
. Now H.M. Vice-Consul at Quelimane. :
I : i to. rtgiﬂ:; no pay from the Company, so that T might not in any way compromise my
perinl r.
ly speaking the Company thus pledged itself to spend about £17,500 n year on British
Central Africa, For the first two years, however, the average smount spent per annum did not reach
this sum, but in the third year it was deemed advisable thdbl_ﬁhuﬂlﬁ;pme to some definite agreement
with the | ny in regard to their annual contribution, which was then fixed at £17,5c0. _In addition
ﬂ';: - es agreed to provide as much as £10,000 for the special purpose of conquering

ilﬂiil:on as an

:  persistently raided the -eastern portion of our territories.  Of this sum a
:Ei_h- tlly spent.  In 1894 this arrangement came to an end. At the beginning of
top fin - Comps znwm pﬁiﬁ&e-,m:mtrlbuﬁ&rghntm towards the adminis-
Mliog g " “the Twp Government returned to a rmprtian of the amounts

any i undertook the administration of its own Sphere at its A
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Captain Cecil Montgomery Maguire! (of the Haiderabad Contingent Lancers)
to raise a small force of Indian troops as a nucleus for our police force in
Central Africa. Captain Maguire was to start from India and meet me at
the mouth of the River Chinde. Captain Sclater and the rest of my staff
were to leave England subsequent to myself and also meet we at Chinde. In
the meantime I proceeded to Zanzibar and Mogambique, to make arrangements
for the disembarkation of ‘my expedition at the mouth of the Zambez. In
the autumn of 1890 Lord Salisbury had resolved to place two gunboats on
the Zambezi, and these vessels, the Herald and the Mosquito, were very ably
put together at Chinde under the superintendence of the Senior Naval Officer,
Commander |. H. Keane, R.N,, C.M.G.,, who managed to launch his gunboats
without undue friction with the Portuguese. All the various sections of my

@

S1IKH SOLDIERS OF THE CONTINGENT NOW SERVING IN BRITISH CENTRAL AVFRICA

expedition arrived with delightful punctuality at Chinde, and with the aid of
the two gunboats and the steamers of the African Lakes Company we con-
veyed men, beusts, and goods without accident to Chiromo.

By the Anglo-Portuguese Convention of 1891 we had lost a little territory
to the west of the Shire basin, but had been allotted in exchange by the
Portuguese a portion of the right bank of the River Shire, below the Ruo
Junction. This brought the British Protectorate almost within sight of the
Zambezi. On my journey up the river, therefore, in H.M.S. Herald, 1 had to
fix the Anglo-Portuguese boundary according to the Convention, and take
over political possession of the Lower Shire District. 3

We had no sooner arrived at Chiromo in the month of July, 1891, than we
were greeted with the news that the Yao chief, Chikumbu,® had atticked ‘the
British settlers who had commenced coffee-planting in that country. , The

' Captain Maguire obtained from the Indian Army seventy volunteers, of whom about forty were
Mazbi Sikhs, of the 23rd and 32nd Pioneers, and the remainder Mubammadan cavalrymen from th

various regiments of Haiderabad Lancers, As nearly all our first batch of horses died of horse sickness
or tsetse fiy, the Cavalry became useless and were eventually sent back to India. We subsequently
decided to engage in future nothing but Sikhs for our Indian Contingent. e

& {* A recent arrival in the Mlanje district, who had developed by degrees into a pewerful WA
chief, if
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ill-feeling between Chikumbu and the British was of some years’ duration.
Chikumbu was a Yao who had settled amongst the peaceful Nyanja people
of Mlanje, whom* he had been gradually subjugating until in 1890 they
appealed to Mr. John Buchanan for protection. The old Nyanja chief,
Chipoka, had died in 1890, and on his death-bed had, with the consent of
all his sub-chiefs-and subjects, transferred the sovereign rights of his country
to the Queen, in order to pledge the British Government to the protection of
the indigenous Nyanja people against Yao attacks. Two or three planters
had  just begun to settle in the Mlanje district, and although they had paid

H.M.5. “MOSQUITO,” A ZAMBEZI GUNBOAT
L]

relatively large sums to Chikumbu he continued to extort larger and larger
payments from them; and at last, upon their refusing to give any more,
committed various acts of violence, and stopped the natives working for them.
Chikumbu was a very great slave trader and kept up a direcct communication
with the East Coast of Africa at Angoche, whither his caravans of slaves
were generally forwarded. He was allied with Matipwiri and other Yao
slave-trading chiefs.

_Accordingly Captain Maguire was dispatched two days after our reaching |
- Chiromo, with a force of Sikhs to bring Chikumbu to reason. The campaign
was not of long duration, though there were one or two days of stiff fighting.

Chikumbn‘ fled and his brother was taken prisoner. The latter was eventually
released and appointed chief in Chikumbu's stead, upon his giving promises
of good behaviour which have since been kept. After a considerable banish-

ment Chikumbu was recently alJoYed to return, and lives now as a private

ndividual,
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Whilst Captain Maguire was thus engaged I had to spend two months at
Chiromo, settling a great many matters in connection with the Lower Shire
districts. 1 did not reach Zomba till the month of September 1891, and here
I was joined by Captain Maguire. After a brief rest we were both obliged to
start with a strong expedition for the south end of Lake Nyasa, owing to
troubles of a complex kind which had broken out between Mponda and other
Yao chiefs, and between Mponda and Chikusi, a chief of the Southern Angoni.
We took with us a force of 7o Indian soldiers and 9 Zanzibaris; also a
7-pounder mountain gun, and marched up the east bank of the Shire.
Although we had come to mediate between the chiefs whose fighting was
temporarily stopping communications on the Shire and were not bent on any
punitive measures except in regard to Makanjira, we were obliged to take
considerable precautions against Mponda, who was uncertain in his attitude |
towards the British, and who waged these wars chiefly with the intention
of securing slaves for the Kilwa! caravans which visited his country. To
avoid coming into collision with him unnecessarily we encamped on the
uninhabited reed wilderness opposite his main town on the east bank oftthe .
Shire, about three miles distant from the south end of Lake Nyasa. Though |
some of these Yao chiefs had invoked our intervention at a distance, their
attitude became suspiciously hostile upon our entering their country with an
armed force. Accordingly Captain Maguire deemed it prudent to throw up
fortifications round our camp opposite Mponda’s town. These had to be
erected with stealth as Mponda was continually sending to enquire what
we were doing, and we were anxious to avoid any attack on his part until we
were capable of defending ourselves and our stores. Accordingly the defences
of what Captain Maguire called, half in fun, “ Fort Johnston,” were constructed
during the day-time in separate sections, which apparently had no con-
nection with one another. Mponda was informed, when he came to see
what we were doing, that these pits and sections of embankment were
intended as sleeping shelters for the men. We then took advantage of
a moonlight night,” when the moon was half full, to work almost twelve
hours on end, and by the next morning our camp was completely «
surrounded by mud and sand breastworks behind a revétement of bamboo.
Before this point was reached, however, an engagement had taken place with
one of our enemies. Makandanji, a chief who dwelt on the south-east corner
of Nyasa, had tied up and imprisoned our envoys. His town was about seven
miles distant from Fort Johnston. Captain Maguire resolved on the ‘true
Napoleonic policy of crushing our enemies singly, and not waiting for them
to come to terms as to a combined movement against us. He suddenly |
on Makandanji and drove him out of his village, releasing our imprisoned ‘men,
and scattering Makandanji’s forces, which were never again able to take the
field against us. Mponda, however, instead of joining Makandanji, seized the
opportunity to capture nearly all the runaways, whom he forthwith marched
off to his own town and sold as slaves to the Swahili caravans waiting there. =
Over seventy of the captives be had the insolence to drive through our camp at
Fort Johnston, at a time when Captain Maguire was absent and I was left with
only ten men. As soon as Captain Maguire was back and the little fort was
completed, I summoned Mponda to set all these slaves at liberty. He declined
to do so, and commenced warlike proceedings against us. We had timed our
ultimatum for a day which was followed. by full moon, and resolved to
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L night.  Accordingly at nine o'clock, on the evening of the 19th of October,
m.,ﬁ-me hour after the expiration of the term given for the restoration of the
Javes, we fired a shell across the river into Mponda's town, perhaps a quarter
\ a mile distant. Mé)onda had no conception of the range of artillery fire,
r the effects of incendiary shells. The return fire of his guns and his muzzle-
lnading cannon was harmless, as we were almost beyond' their effective range.
A few more shells soon set much of Mponda's town on fire, and he called for
. truce. This was granted, but he only made use of it to withdraw with his
women and ivory to a strong place he possessed in the hills. His fighting men
remained and we renewed the struggle, which we kept up till the early morning,
when we landed on the opposite shore and drove the remainder of the defenders
out of Mponda's town, which we then destroyed. A great many slaves were
found by us in the town, and brought over to our camp. Many of these
wretched people had come from vast distances in the interior of South Central

FORT JOHNSTON IN 1395

Africa. The following day Mponda asked for terms of peace,and peace was
eventually concluded. He then informed us as to the whereabouts of the slave-
trading caravans: Captain Maguire pursued these people, capturing seven of
them and releasing large numbers of slaves. The terms of peace offered to
Mponda were very fair, and he probably rather gained in power by coming to
an understanding with us. For four years afterwards he kept the peace; then
n the belief that we were going to get the worst of it at the hands of Zarafi,
he_nnwisely went to war once more,.with the result that he is now temporarily
exiled from his country.

Makandanjis the first chief with whom we had fought, acknowledged the
supremacy of Zarafi, a powerful chief who dwelt on a very® high mountain 20
miles to the east of Fort Johnston. . We knew little about Zarafi in those days,
except that he had not long succeeded his mother, a famous woman-chief called
Kabutu, Zarafi, imagining that we should follow the attack on Makandanji by
an advance into his country, sent envoys down to treat with us for peace. We,
therefore, on one day, concluded treaties with Mponda, Zarafi, and Makandanji,
and seemed to have accomplished the pacification of Soug_ Nyasa.
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: B‘ldﬁem resolved to undertake th
chastisement of Makanjira, who had, as already related, _cummi-t't.ed_ various
outrages on British subjects, and had recently robbed the Universities Mission
of a boat and killed some of their boatmen. We hired the African Lakes
Company’s steamer Domira, and mounted our 7-pounder gun. in the bows
Arriving suddenly off Makanjira's in the early morning, we were saluted by
volleys from his fighting men, who were drawn up on the beach, and who had
evidently been expecting our arrival. A shell-landed in the middle of this
yelling crowd produced an impression on them which was absolutely novel, and
there was soon not one of the enemy in sight. After setting fire to a portion
of the town with other shells, I effected a landing with a small number of
Sikhs, whilst Captain Maguire kept the enemy at bay by bombarding thé town
from the steamer. We managed to land with only one or two casualties, and
the Sikhs carried off two of Makanjira’s cannon and set fire to one of his daus.!
The enemy, however, came on us in such strength that we had to retreat
to our boat, and should probably have not escaped with our lives had not
Captain Maguire arrived with reinforcements. He drove the enemy back into
the town, and completed the destruction of the dau. -

The next morning Captain Maguire landed in force, and after hard fighting,
in which several of our Sikhs were severely wounded, he captured all Makanjira’s
defences. 1 joined him, and we then drove the enemy out of the huge town,
which we completely destroyed. We also destroyed two or-three of their daus,

After waiting a day in vain to see if any person would come from Makanjira
to treat for a peace, we steamed over to the opposite side of the lake, where it
was necessary to come to an understanding with Kazembe, who lived opposite
to Makanjira and was a near relation. Lake Nyasa is at its narfowest opposite
Makanjira's town. Its breadth here is probably not more than fifteen miles.
The favourite ferry across Lake Nyasa, therefore, has generally been between
these two points, the one on the eastern shore held by Makanjira, the other on
the west by Kazembe. Kazembe was a great slave trader, but was not hostile
to the British. He had concluded a treaty with me in 18go, but it was
necessary to warn him that the slave trade could no longer continue. He took
the warning in good part, and promised good behaviour in future. This promise
was not faithfully adhered to, and the result was that Kazembe was exiled from
the Protectorate for a few months, but was subsequently restored to power, and
is now chiefl 1n Makanjira's place. ' S

After leaving Kazembe's, we revisited Makanjira's coast in the Domira.
Captain Maguire landed at a town belonging to Makanjira’s headman, Saidi
Mwazungu, in the southern part of Makanjira's country, for thc'ﬁaurpm%:f .
acquiring information. The people had not evinced unfriendliness e
approached, and Captain Maguire landed under a flag of truce. He 3
received by an Arab (who was said to have been a native of Aden) 1
show “ of courtesy, but no sooner had he reached the veranda of the Arab's
house than he was suddenly fired on by the Arab himself, who ne
marvellous accident missed him, though only two or three yards
Captain Maguire had landed with only six men; but, hearing the
immediately dispatched reinforcements to his assistance, and the tow
soon taken and destroyed. The two remaining daus of Makantra,%r

! A “dau" is an Arab sailing vessel, sometimes of consi _ble-lhe._-'s":
inary racial perversity in matters

he daw, but the British, with their
rhyme or reason to spell it *dhow.”
i P
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bcfnre our Comlng. .

We now returned to Zomba, leaving a garrison behind at Fort Johnston. We
had no sooner reached Zomba than we heard of trouble from Kawinga, a power-
ful Yao chief who lived on a hill which was at the north-eastern extremity of
the Zomba range. It was deemed advisable to dispatch an expedition against
Kawinga, and this was accompanied by Mr. John Buchanan, c.M.G., who had
become a Vice-Consul in the service of the Protectorate. Kawinga's fortress
proved however to be a much harder nut to crack than we had expected. A
gallant attcmﬁ was made by Captain .

Maguire and Mr. Buchanan to scale the

hill in face of a heavy fire. Captain
Maguire was wounded in the chest,
several of our men were killed or
wounded, and the force was partially
repulsed, though it had captured nearly
all Kawinga's positions except the
highest, and had so far scared him that
he treated for peace and obtained it
After the conclusion of peace with
Kawinga, Captain Maguire considered
it necessary to return to Fort Johnston,
to complete the building at that place,
and relieve the garrison. He was to be
back at Zemba to spend Christmas with
me, but I was doomed never to see him
again,

Upon reaching Fort Johnston he
had received. information. as to the
locality wnere Makanjira’s two daus
were hidden, Without waiting to con-
sult me, therefore, he started in the
Domira, with a small force of Indian CAPTAIN CECIL MONTGOMERY MAGUIRE
soldiers.  He found the daus—in a little DIRD DACKMBKN 15, 19gr
cove close to where Fort Maguire is . |
now situated, and somewhat to the north of Makanjira’'s main town. He
landed with a small force of about 28 men, and was proceeding to destroy
and incapacitate the daus, when Makanjira, with about 2,000 men, attacked
him. He retreated to the beach.

Unfortunately a storm had arisen which had wrenched his boat from her
moorings, and had dashed her on to the rocks. The Domira in endeavouring
to approach as near as possible in order to come to his assistance, was blown on
to a sand-bank, and stuck fast within a short distance of the shore. When
he had lost three of his men Captain Maguire told the others to enter the
Water and make for the Domira. After seeing them off, and with a few faithful
Sikhs repulsing with the bayonet the onslaught of the enemy, he turned to the
aring the steamer a bullet apparently struck
id and he sank. Just about this time the master

was wot nded, and shortly after Mr. Urquhart,
I. e -&u ﬁié I'ﬂ (a‘jso]r : e |
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once made to defend the Domira from the attack of Makanjira's men, who were
at very close range. After two or three days’ incessant fighting, Makanjira's
people put up a flag of truce. His envoys were received on’board and offered,
in return for a certain ransom (which was paid), to cease fighting and to assist in
moving the Domira off the sand-bank, and to give up the bodies of Captain
Maguire and the dead sepoys. The negotiations were chiefly conducted by Dr.
Boyce! and Mr. McEwan,? in order that the two wounded Europeans might not
be shown to the enemy. After peace had, seemingly, been concluded with
Makanjira's envoys, the latter said that no effect could be given to the provisions
of this agreemént until the white men had visited Makanjira on the shore, and
as an extra inducement for them to come they promised Dr. Boyce that he
should receive for burial the body of Captain Maguire. Owing to the two
wounded officers being concealed in the cabin below, it appears that Makanjira's
envoys imagined Dr. Boyce and Mr. McEwan were the only white men on the
steamer. They therefore made a point of insisting they should both come.to
see Makanjira. . :

No idea of treachery seems to have entered the minds of the Europeans, who
did not even think of insisting on Makanjira's leaving hostages on board, whilst
they went on shore. They therefore started for the beach with only a few
unarmed attendants. One of these was Captain Maguire’s orderly, ‘an Indian
Muhammadan soldier. Soon after reaching the beach an Arab led this orderly
away from the rest of the party, offering to show him Captain Maguire's body.
So far as is known, after taking the orderly for a roundabout walk he urged him
strongly to return to the boat, which the man did*® Dr. Boyce and his party
were told that Makanjira was just a short distance from the shore, in the bush,
awaiting them. They were thus led on to a distance of perhaps tivo miles from
the lake shore; then they suddenly found themselves surrounded by a number
of Makanjira's men, at the head of whom was Saidi Mwazungu, a man half
Arab and half Yao. Saidi Mwazungu suddenly called out, “ Makanjira has
ordered the white men to be killed” His men then turned their guns on
the party. Mr. McEwan was shot repeatedly. Dr. Boyce was shot several
times, but did not die. They therefore threw him down and cut his head
off.  The Swahili servants who had accompanied this party were not killed, but
secured and subsequently sold as slaves* The Atonga steamer-boys were
killed, or left for dead. One of these Atonga, however, whom the ﬁg.bs
believed themselves to have killed, managed in spite of his terrible wounds to
crawl by degrees to the lake shore, where he shouted for help. He was got on
board the steamer, and gave them an account of what had happened. Mean-
time the survivors in the steamer heard the Yao shouting on the shore that all
the white men were killed, and that now was the time to attack the steamcr. o
The Sikhs behaved splendidly, but the hero at this crisis was Mr. Urquhart, |
wounded engineer, who by dint of almost superhuman efforts, and by RIng
at the dead of night, managed to get the steamer afloat. After a five days
detention—five days without sleep, in constant and incessant dauget,.a.ndj'-_f_‘ :

! Dr. Boyee was a Parsi Doctor of Medicine, who had been engaged by me at Zanzibar
to the Indian contingent. .
* The'first engineer of the Domira. :
* The orderly, with the horror of what had taken place during these few days, subseq :
his mind, and was never able to give a coherent account of the circumstances, but i iy
J?:b did not wish a fellow Muhammadan to be killed, and therefore induced the orl)
the steamer. ' R
4 After the most extraordinary adventures they succeeded in reaching the coast,
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without food—the steamer floated off the sand-bank into d water. The
~-pounder gun was silently got ready by the Sikhs, and before the vessel
.:lc:;uncd away, shells were fired in rapid succession into howling crowds of
\akanjira’s men, who were dancing round camp fires, confident that a few more
hours would 'see the Domira in their possession. .

The death of Captain Maguire took place on the 15th December, 1891.
No news of it reached me until Christmas Eve, just at the time when I was
expecting him to arrive for Christmas day. [I'left at once for Blantyre, which
| reached on the evening of Christmas day, and there conferred with Mr. John
Buchanan and Mr. Fotheringham, the manager of the African Lakes Company.
The latter at once proffered his co-operation in meeting the difficult situation
on Lake Nyasa. We both started for the Upper Shire by different routes, and
reached Fort Johnston at the end of December. Here we found that the chief
Msamara who lived a little below Mponda on the west bank of the Shire, had
turngd against us and with Zarafi had sent a force of men to attack Fort
Johnston, and although nothing more had come of the attack but a few wild
shots, he had nevertheless been raiding all round the Fort. -

The bad news had brought volunteers hurrying up from the south. Amongst
them came Mr. J. G. King, from Port Herald ; Dr. A. Blair Watson ; the late
Mr. Gilbert Stevenson; and, a little later on, Commander J. H. Keane, R.N!
Forturately Mponda had remained loyal, and although for a few days the Fort
and its garrison of wounded and exhausted men lay at his mercy, he had not
only been neutral but had assisted to defend the place against Zarafi’s attacks.
My arrival soon restored the morale of the Sikhs, who were literally in tears at
the death of their commander, but the Muhammadan Indian soldiers had not
rallied from the feeling of discouragement caused by this disaster. Soon after-
wards they had, in fact, to be sent back to India, though there were men
amongst them who had strikingly distinguished themselves. It must be
remembered, however, that they were all cavalry men, and not used to fighting
on foot, or ¢n board a ship, and all things considered behaved as well as might
be expected. The Sikhs, however, throughout all this crisis, never showed their
sterling worth more effectually.

Another attack on Makanjira was impossible until we had got gunbuats on
the lake. So I decided to restore our prestige by subduing those enemies who
were nearer at hand and more vulnerable, to wit, Msamara and Zarafi. The
chief Msamara was captured and imprisoned in the fort, together with some
of lis headmen, whilst an enquiry was instituted into his culpability for the
recent raids. 1 regret to say that whilst in prison he poisoned himself but
it was fortunately done with the knowledge and connivance of his followers and
consequently no slur was cast on the Administration for his death, his headmen
themselves asserting that their chief had committed suicide because he believed
he was going to be hanged, an eventuality, however, of which there was little
probability. “The war against Zarafi was a more difficult matter. [ was able
with the help of the volunteer officérs and the Sikhs to capture all Zarafi's
}'Ilklges.in the plains with relatively little loss of men; but to attack Zarafi
l:ththc hills was another matter. . While on our way thither, all Mponda’s men

O were aq ¢

happened to us, since we were embarked onan
we did not know it at that time;
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as our porters ran away, and we were therefore compelled to
ohnston. Under the circumstances the flight of our porters was
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Id probably have met with as serious a disaster as subsequently happened
to anot.ﬁér expedition. . % o
During all this crisis we were much helped by the Angoni, under Chifisi,
o dwelt at the back of Mponda's country. These men came down in
hundreds to assist us in fighting Zarafi. Unfortunately the Angoni are not
as brave as they look, and we subsequently found they were very broken reeds
to depend on in hard fighting. Zarafi had, nevertheless, suffered so much at
our hands by the loss of all his villages in the plains that he ceased his raids,
and commenced negotiations for peace. No doubt these negotiations were only
intended to gain time, but I welcomed them as a valuable respite, and did not
intend to take any further steps against Zarafi until I could receive reinforce-
ments of officers and men. By the capture of Zarafi's low-lying towns [ had
prevented for some time to come any attempts on his part to obstruct the
navigation of the Shire ; this end was still further attained by the imprisonment
of the chief Msamara who subsequently committed suicide at Fort Johnston.

I again returned to Zomba, determined to apply myself now to the con-
sideration_of our financial position, for since my arrival in British Central Africa
in July, 1891, | had not had a spare day in which to turn to accounts. Up till
this time it must be remembered that I had to be my own secretary and
accountant, and the pressure of office work was almost more thah I could
stand. Captain Sclater was busily employed in making roads, and this work
was so necessary 1 did not like to call him off it for other purposes ; Mr. Sharpe
was not yet back from leave of absence in England.

I had just begun to settle down once more to office work at Zomba when
another message arrived with disastrous news. On the 24th ruary, 1892,
I received a note from Dr. Watson informing me that after my departure a
large force of Angoni had come down and placed their services at the di.\:posnl
of Mr. J. G. King, whom I had left in charge of Fort Johnston as chief of that
station ; and Mr. King had resolved, then and there, to attack Zarafi, who had
once more become troublesome; that the expedition had resulted in a very
serious repulse at the foot of Zarafi's hill, in which but for the dogged bravery
of a Naval Petty Officer, Mr. Henry Inge, lent by the river gunboats, nearly the
whole of the expedition must have been annihilated. He went on to rel:
that at the beginning of the engagement Mr. King had been shot through
lungs, and that he himself (Dr. Watson) had been wounded in the fight; th
some six Indian soldiers had been killed and several Swabhilis; that anoth
fourteen Indian soldiers were missing;! and that the 7-pounder gun which
Mr. Inge used till the ammunition was exhausted, to distract the from

Fortunately at this juncture Commander Keane, R.N., was staying with me

.

returned there and restored the situation as well as possible. >
I am glad to say that |?oth Mr. King and Dr. Watson recevered from
wounds. The recovery of the former wds quite extraordinary as
practically shot through the lungs® Our ultimate losses were found
consisted of the 7-pounder gun, a few rifles and cases of ammunition

I These subsequently reached Fort Johnston by devious routes, one after more |
the bush with nmng but grass, leaves, ':md rool.atlz eat, BE Ron?
* For years afterwards he wus Vice-Consul at Chinde ; but to ‘my decp regr
«on November 3o, 1896. R T
| . v
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indian sepoys and three Zanzibari soldiers killed. This time may be taken as
the nadir of our fortunes. The slave-trading chiefs at Chiradzulu began to
sive trouble By committing highway robberies on the roads between Zomba
and Blantyre and Blantyre and Matope. The Ndirande! people joined them i
these depredations, and Matipwiri, a very powerful Yao chief who dwelt nea
ihe Portuguese border at the back of the Mlanje Mountain, together with
Kawinga, sent out raiding parties from time to time to rob our carriers and to
carry off slaves. Makanjira having received an ‘enormous accession of strength
and prestige from the death of Captain Maguire, crossed the lake to the opposite
peninsula of the Rifu, and with the aid of the disaffected party there drove
Kazembe from power as punishment for his alliance with the English.
Kazembe fled to the south. Thus both sides of this narrow ferry were in the
hands of the enemies of the English. Makanjira's next attempts were directed
against Jumbe, and he began a war with him, which eventually terminated in the
following year by Jumbe's loss of all his territory except his capital town.
Fortunately the Arabs at the north end were not ready to recommence the
war; and Mponda, who held the key of the situation at the south end of Lake
Nyasa, remained faithful to us. Then Mr. Sharpe returned from.leave of
absence in England, and the terrible pressure of the official work on my
shoulders was lightened. Moreover 1 received my first accountant in the
person of Mr. William Wheeler,
who assisted me in getting our
finances into order.

Captain Sclater had been of
great assistance to me through
this trying time, and had made
4 rapid journey to the coast to
obtain things that were wanted,
and to engage some more ‘men.
Amongst his recruits was Mr.
Wheeler, who had come to us
from a position of accountant in
the service of the Union Steam-
Slﬁ% Company.

' But in March, 1892, after the
disaster at Zarafi's, the fortunes of
the young Administration seemed
certainly at their lowest ebb ; and
what distressed me much more at
this period than our wars with the
Yao, or any trouble that could
be given by the black men, was MR. WILLIAM WHEELER

the attitude of the white settlers :

and some of the missionaries. It cannot be said that the Administration in its
trlier days was universally popular amongst the Europeans, especially those

who dwelt in the Shire province. | The E{’oclamation of the British Protectorate

t:d Ibeeq-folluwa_d by. a wholesale Eﬁ sbing of .land; or, where it is not fair
: fdescribe the acquisition of land as| “grabbing,” at any rate huge tracts
ad been bought for disproportionate amounts from the natives, and there were

"

- ! Ndirande is & mountain overlooking Blantyre, PO el "
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many claims that overlapped and required adjustment. '_{he-settfprs knew that
I was entrusted with the task of enquiring into and settling their claims, and
many of them anticipated with some accuracy that their claims would not be
sanctioned, ecither wholly or even at all. They were therefore disposed to

making all the capital they could out of my misfortunes. In regard to a |
certain Missionary Society in the Shire Highlands, its hostile attitude was
of more complex origin. It had acquired, and acquired by good means, a very
strong influence over the natives. Its representatives were men of great |
natural ability who, whether conscious of it or not, enjoyed to the full the |
power of governing. Still they had not been appointed to administer this
country by the Government, and it was impossible to allow them to take
the law into their own hands as they were in the habit of doing, by holding
informal courts and administering justice. ILoth as I was to come into conflict
with any Missionary Society—as | have always been a sincere admirer of the
results of mission work—I found myself inevitably at issue with certain men
at Blantyre and elsewhere. It is not worth while describing the ways in which
through misrepresentation in the Press, letters to the Foreign Office, and strong
local opposition my life and the lives of my subordinates were made unbearable :
for 1 suppose the same conflict has occurred with the commencement of all
attempts to found an Administration among headstrong, sturdy .pioneers, |
merely refer to these foolish dead-and-forgotten quarrels because in a small way
they enter into the woof of our history at this period, for I cannot too strongly
assert, as a fact perhaps not sufficiently appreciated, that during my seventeen
years' acquaintance with Africa the difficulties raised up against my work by
Europeans have infinitely exceeded the trouble given me by negroes or Arabs.

Captain Charles Edward Johnson, of the 36th Sikhs, arrived in the month
of June to take the place of the late Captain Maguire. He soon brought order
into our disorganised forces, and there accompanied him a small detachment of
Sikhs which proved a very useful reinforcement. Commander Keane was
released by the arrival of Captain Johnson and received a C.M.G. in reward
for his services. Before Captain Johnson could get an expedition ready I was
obliged to dispatch a small force under Mr. Sharpe and Captain Sclater against
the highway robbers of Mt. Chiradzulu! :

At the beginning of July, 1892, we received a visit from Admiral Nicholson,
who was comnmanding on the Cape Station. Being absent at Fort Johnston,
I dispatched Mr. Sharpe to meet the Admiral at Chiromo, whilst I journeyed
to Blantyre. As regards bad news, I had one hour after I reached Blantyre
which 1 shall always remember as a kind of Job's experience. Within that
one hour arrived the following pieces of information. First came a messenger
to say that a raid had been made by the Yao on the Blantyre-Zomba road, &
caravan attacked and a quantity of goods stolen. Then came another message
from Katunga, on the Shire, with the news that Mr. Sharpe’s boat, on his way
down to Chiromo, hac’ been capsized by a hippopotamus, and that Mr. Sharpe
and all his companions were drowned.* Lastly came the post with the news

! Chiradeulu is a very fine pictoresque mountain about §,500 ft. in height, midway between
Blantyre. The Yao settled on this mountain since the Yao raids of 1861-2 and -3 were
to the first missionaries and planters, and gave a great deal of annoyance in the early days of th

tration.  They were thoroughgoing slave-raiders, and were not finally subdued until the G

# Two or three of Mr. Sharpe’s men were drowned, but he fortunately suceesded in
ashore where he was eventually picked up by a native canoe.  He lost, however, everythii

“him, including some valuable guns. ' . 3

&
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tat the New Oriental Bank, in which were invested a good proportion of our
funds, had failed? ~ Following close on this tale of disasters came Admiral

Nicholson, fortunatély accompanied by Mr. Sharpe, the news of whose
Lntimely death had fairly taken all the heart out of me. Probably Admiral
Nicholson has never known to this day why I received him with so much

emolion.

In May, 1892, Mr. John I.. Nicoll had returned from leave of absence in
I noland, and had entered the service of the British Central Africa Administra-
tion.  He was appointed collector for the South Nyasa district, to reside at

MRE. NICOLL'S HOUSE AT FORT JOHNSTON .

Fort Johnston. In nearly three years' residence he effected a remarkable
improvement in affairs on the Upper Shire and at the south end of the
fake.  Zarafi's raids were checked, the river was policed and rendered safe,
» and Mponda was kept in grder. In the summer of this same year two
”_N!!'I'rlnm expeditions arrived in the country. One was the dispa'tch from
':'.-;.;nrurl of three gunbuats 31‘1 sections for LLake Nyasa and the Upper Shire.
1!:“ flma.ts had been obtained by the initiative of Lord Salisbury, when
I news first arrtved of the disasters on the lake. consequent on the death
O Laptain Cecil Maguire. The Admiralty undertook the charge of furnishing
“; gtmbuats, and they were sent out un.dlt:r the charge f)'.: Lieutenant

oW Commaader) Hope Robertson, RN The other expedition was that

; ]{ he Bank subsequently paid us in full, though nat for about a year afterwards.
i con :" hl-? services in conveying these gunboats to Lake Nyasa, bringing about their rapid and success-
e uction, and afterwards commanding them on Lake Nyasa in various campaigns, Lieutenant
fson was promoted, and was made n C.M. G

the
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under Major von Wissmann, who at the head of a large expedition was_con-
veying a steamer (named after himself) to Lake Nyasa, on behalf of the
German Anti-Slavery Society. .

In the middle of 1892 our Customs Regulations received definite form.
Mr. H. A. Hillier, who had joined the Administration in 1891, was made
principal Customs Officer at Chiromo, and the efficiency of our Customs
service owes much to his organization. In 1896 he was made Director-General
of Customs. In 1892 also the first steps were taken to institute a Hut tax.
The question of the taxation of the natives was in its initial stages a

TREES P'LANTED BY MR. NICOLL AT FORT JOHNSTON (TWoO YEARS' GROWTH)

difficult one to settle. In taking over the Lower Shire district on the west
bank of the Shire from the Portuguese in the middle of 1891, the natives
who had been accustomed, to pay taxes to the Portuguese had asked me
to assess their taxes, if possible, at a lower rate. On enquiry 1 ascertained
that they had paid a capitation tax of something like haif-a-crown a head
per annum, which tax was levied indifferently on men, women, and children.
The chiefs of the Lower Shire natives, however, were of opinion that they
would prefer a Hut to a Poll tax. Estimating the average number of hut
occupants at three, their former Poll tax would have resulted in each
household paying about 7s. 64. per annum. [ therefore proposed to
compromise the matter by fixing the annual Hut tax at 6s per annum'

and abolishing the Capitation Dues. The natives seemed well satisfied with

-‘é'i
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this pmposal. _Gra:clualiy, however, it became obvious that if the natives of the
Lower Shire district were to pay taxes, the other natives of such portions
of the Protectorate as we were obliged to administer at our own cost, should
do the same. For a year [ talked this over with the leading chiefs of the Shire
province (the only portion of the Protectorate we were then prepared to
administer), and got most of them to agree to the principle that the natives
of the Protectorate should contribute, to a reasonable extent, towards the
revenue.  The idea of taxing the natives, however, was strongly opposed by
the missionaries, and also by many of the traders and planters, who believed
it would cause discontent and would make native labour dearef. 1 still held
to my view, nevertheless, that those natives of British Central Africa who

THE NYASA GUNBOATS IN NKATA BAY, WEST NYASA .

were unable to protect themselves from the incursions of slave raiders, or
who by their own misconduct compelled the intervention of the Administration
for the maintenance of law and order, should contribute as far as their means
« dllowed towards the revenue of the Protectorate, for it was not to be supposed
that the British taxpayer, or the British South Africa Company, could continue
mticﬁnite]y finding subsidies for the support of the Protectorate; that the
Protectorate must justify its existence. by eventualiy supporting itself on its
locally raised revenue. At a meeting with some of the leading missionaries
and planters at Blantyre, in the winter of 1892, I agreed to propose to the
Sceretary of State that the Hut tax should be reduced to 3s. per annum, and
tventually it was fixed in the Queen’s Regulations at that sum.
_ The only other taxation incumbent on the natives was the taking out
Ol 4 gun license, for which the same sum was charged as in the case of
“Uropeans and foreigners, namely, £1 for five years, or in the case of the
halives, 4s. per annum. The payment of the Hut tax was at first confined
& :
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)
to certain portions of the Shire province. (ira_.duall__\' i_l was enforced throug}-
out the Shire province. At the present time it 1S enforced Ehrﬁugh. it
all the Protectorate with the exception of that portion of the West Nyasa
district which is inhabited by the northern Angoni, who at present decline
to pay taxes to the \dzniuistr:_cliun but on the other hand remain quiet
and free from civil war, and therefore do not compel us to go to the expense of
administering their country. Eventually, no doubt, by friendly arrangement the
Hut tax will be enforced even here. In all other parts of tl_lt.: l'rulcctorate. it has
never been put in force without a proper arrangement b}:lng come to with the
native chiefs, txcept in such districts as where the c?ncfﬁ—\ ao or Arabs -
have gone to war with us. Then as one of the conditions of peace or one of
the results of conquest, the Hut tax has been eventually enforced. The

LARKE ROAD, CHIROMO

-
revenue derived from this source in 1893 was about £1,639. In the financial
year ended March 31st, 1896, it amounted to £ 4,695 in value.

In the early autumn of 1892 1 commenced the land settlement, and by
degrees every estate or land claim between the Lower Shire distfict and Lakes
Tanganyika and Mweru and the Upper Luapula was visited and enquired into
by Mr. Alfred Sharpe, Captain Sclater or myself. Admissible claims werct
divided into two kinds: claims to mineral rights, and claims to land with or
without mineral rights) In the case of treaties conferring mining rights
the investigation was relatively simple. The chief or chiefs alleged to be
the grantors of such concessions were examined and if they admitted making
the grant, and it could be shown that they had received fair value for the samc,
the mining concessions were confirmed. In regard to land, long occupation
and improvements were regarded as almost the best titles. These qualifications,
however, applied to very few estates in British Central Africa, as in most ¢ases

1 Inadmissible claims were those which conferred sovercign rights or g,-“mm] any munapdy"f trace
inconsistent with the various treaties with Forcign Powers 1o which Great Britain was a party. :



. - .
ihe -cttlers had only arrived after the proclamation of the Protectorate. Only
in cases of very lengthy occupation and much cultivation or building were
claims sanctioned which were unsupported by properly executed documents.
Even when land had been purchased, and the sale on the part of the chief was
ot repudiated, and the deed of sale was authentic, the concessionnaire was
required to show what cpns;dergtmn had been paid, and if the grantor was not
considered to have received fair value for his land the grantee had either to
supplement his first payment by_anothe.r, or the area of his estate was reduced
to an extent fairly compatible with the sum paid. As land was of very little
value before the establishment of the Administration, and as uadoubtedly the -
settlers had conferred great benefits on the country by clearing and planting,
land was not rated at a high value in these settlements. Threepence an acre
was the maximum, and this only in exceptionally favoured districts like Mlanje
and Blantyre. Sometimes the value of the land was computed at as low as a
halfpenny an acre. Except on very small estates the existing native villages
and plantations were exempted from all these purchases, and the natives werg,
informed that the sale of the surrounding land did not include the alienation o
their homes and plantations. The fact is, that at the time the chiefs sold land
to the Europeans they were very heedless of the results. All they desired was
the immediate possession of the trade goods or money given in payment. The
tenure of the land in reality was tribal ; that is to say theoretically the chief
had no right to alienate the land, but he had assumed such right and his
assumption was tacitly accepted by his people. It was, however, highly
necessary to secure these people from the results of their chief’s heedlessness, in
many cases, as they were apt to become the serfs of the white man when he
began to appear as their over-landlord.  One of the results of the land settlement,
thergfore, was to completely free the natives from any dependency on the white
settler, by restoring to them the inalienable occupancy of their villages and
plantations. Moreover, in sanctioning the various concessions in the name
of the Government we reserved to the Crown the right to make roads, railways,
or canals over anybody's property without compensation ; the control of the
water supply; and where mining rights were included in the concession, a
royalty on the produce of the mines. In each deed (the deeds were styled
“Certificates of Claim") the boundaries of the property were set forth with
sedulous accuracy, and it was provided that all these deeds sheould be even-
tually supplemented by an authoritative survey made by a Government surveyor,
a process which is fast being completed. On the whole the settlement was well
accepted by the Europeans, while it gave distinct satisfaction to the natives, and
was approved without modification by Her Majesty’s Government. Throughout
the whole settlement [ believe I am right in saying that only one dispute
regarding boundaries was brought into Court and not settled amicably and
iformally in my office.  When all these claims had been arranged I concluded,
o hehalf of the Crown, treaties with all the chiefs of the Protectorate, securing
Crown control ower the remainder of the land, which the natives were hence-
forth unable to alienate without the sanction of the Commissioner. In some
tes large sums of ‘money were spent by the Government in buying up the
Victe land from the natives where it was deemed advisable that a complete
control over its disposal should be exercised. Except over a small area of land
which §s nbsolutcl:r Crown property, a percentage on the selling price or

let op sold,

t rent is paid to the native chief when portions of the Crown lands are
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In the same year, 1892, the foundation of our Courts of Justice was laid.
At my recommendation a number of officials were given warrants as magis-
trates by the Secretary of State, and were thus enabled to"administer justice
to Europeans and other foreigners under the “ Africa Orders in Council of 1889
and 1893."' It was theoretically supposed that justice to natives only was ad-
ministered by native chiefs, but in reality the native courts are practically held
by British magistrates in the name of the local chief or as his representative;
for over most of the districts the native chiefs have surrendered to us by
treaty their justiciary rights. Still, in some districts, native chiefs are
encouraged to"settle all minor cases themselves, and the natives are net
allowed to go to the European magistrate except where the native chief cannot
be relied on for fairness. No native chief or British magistrate, however, is

. THE KATUNGA ROAD IN I'RE-ADMINISTRATION DAYS i "

allowed to carry out a death sentence on a native without first referring the
case to the Commissioner for consideration, and obtaining his sanction to the
verdict and sentence. .
As far back as 1891 we had commenced road-making. Captain Sclater
had begun to clear a road from Chiromo to Zoa, with the intention of ultimately®
carrying on this road to Mlanje in one direcion, and to Blantyre and Zomba in
another. It was found, however, to be of more urgent need to the community
that the road between Katunga and Blantyre should be made passable for
waggons. Consequently Captain Sclater undertook the reconstruction of the
Katunga road;® which proved to be a very lengthy and expensive business
and is not yet finally confpleted. oLl
In the summer of 1892 Captain Stairs’ expedition returned from Katanga,
' That 9 only applied to British and British protected subjects ; that of 1893 gave us, in virtue
of treaties ¢ ded, jurisdiction over all subjects of Foreign States within the limits of the Protectomtes |

#1t had heen priginally made by the Lakes Company, but it was little more than a rough tr
without bridges, and almost impassable for wageons. A L




